
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
Regular Council Meeting 

Agenda 
Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 

Thursday January 9, 2020 scheduled to start at 7:00pm 
 

 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Prayer 

 
3. Adoption of Agenda 

 
4. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 

a) 2019.12.12 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Gallery Comments 
 

6. Delegations: None 
 

7. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 
a) Appointment of Wayne Smith to the Municipal Planning Commission 
b) Viability Review Request 
c) Municipal Accountability Program TO DO List: 

i. Item # 18. Subdivision and Development Appeal Board (SDAB):  At an upcoming regular 
council meeting (prior to August 1, 2020), Council will appoint one or more clerks of the Chinook 
Intermunicipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board – specifically… 

1. “(Councillor name) MOVED to sub-delegate to the Chief Administrative Officer for the 
Village of Glenwood the authority to appoint a clerk(s) of the Chinook Intermunicipal 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board.” 

 
8. Councillor Reports: 

 
9. CAO Report: 

a) LUB editing meeting 1/13/20 
b) Cemetery Committee meeting 1/13/20 
c) CAO on vacation 1/24-2/6 

 
10. Financial Reports: 

a) Accounts Payable Cheques for December (20190516-20190591) #20190574-0590 are 
listed on the January cheque listing (this item of info was corrected on 3/23/2020) 

b) Budget Update for 2019 
c) Bank Reconciliation for December 

 
11. Correspondence: 

a) 2019.12.05 CCES minutes 



Page 2 of 2 

b) 2019.12.06 M&R minutes 
c) 2019.12.11 CMRSWA minutes 
d) 2019.12.18 AHS EMS Notification of Helicopter HEMS Review 
e) 2020 Seniors Week EOI 
f) 2020.01 RMA District Update 
g) CMRSWA III-D 2020 Budget & 2019 Fin. Stmt Working Budget 
h) CMRSWA III-D requisition20 
i) DRAFT Joint Fire Services Agreement 2019.11.25 
j) Viability Review Request 
 

 
12. Closed Meeting: 

a) Employee Matters CAO review – As per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act 
b) Contractual Negotiations county water agreement – As per Section 24(c) of the FOIP 

Act 
 

13. Adjournment: 





11:31:37AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-23Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 3


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20190516 2019-12-09 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  438.81


2019*11*LIBRARY NOV PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS  438.81 


 20190517 2019-12-09 BENCHMARK ASSESSMENT CONSULTANTS INC PAYMENT  1,384.26


2020-1264 2020 - JAN & FEB  1,384.26 


 20190518 2019-12-09 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  220.36


5008046822 12/29/2019 - 01/28/2020  220.36 


 20190519 2019-12-16 ALBERTA ONE CALL CORPORATION PAYMENT  6.30


IN155675 LAND LOCATES  6.30 


 20190520 2019-12-16 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD PAYMENT  1,442.06


0172-9 2019 - DEC BENEFITS  1,442.06 


 20190521 2019-12-16 BENCHMARK ASSESSMENT CONSULTANTS INC PAYMENT  692.12


1264 2019 DEC ASSESSMENT FEE  692.12 


 20190522 2019-12-16 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  3,757.88


2019-NOV NOV PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS  3,757.88 


 20190523 2019-12-16 GLENWOOD TIRES, GERALD CARTER PAYMENT  130.20


590016 GRADER TIRE REPAIR  130.20 


 20190524 2019-12-16 GOETZ, BEN PAYMENT  3,000.00


2019 FIREWORKS 2,000. MICHEL & $1,000. HENEGERER DONATIONS 3,000.00 


 20190525 2019-12-16 LYBBERT, MYRON PAYMENT  121.80


2019 - DEC COUNCIL TRAVEL  121.80 


 20190526 2019-12-16 MUNICIPAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC. PAYMENT  561.04


20191896 DEC SUPPORT  298.54 


20191993 WEBINAR - SHARED WITH HILL SPRING  262.50 


 20190527 2019-12-16 OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMM. PAYMENT  1,273.28


107771 REGIONAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW BOARD HEARING OCT. 24 1,273.28 


 20190528 2019-12-16 PINCHER CREEK CO-OP PAYMENT  101.92


00290754A REPAIR FRONT OF JEBBY DUNE  25.17 


00290958A REPAIR FRONT OF JEBBY DUNZ -FORK LIFT 71.49 


20191199 ADMIN  5.26 


 20190529 2019-12-16 TINA'S CAFE & BAKERY PAYMENT  60.00


2019.12 CHOC. & BUNS  20.00 


7201600 CHOCOLATES FOR SCHOOL & SAPUTO  40.00 


 20190530 2019-12-16 WILDE BROTHERS ENGINEERING LTD PAYMENT  4,200.00


206115 GIS INFRASTRUCTURE COMPLETION  4,200.00 


 20190531 2019-12-19 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL SERVICES CORPORATION PAYMENT  4,288.16


19-1031712 UTILITIES  4,288.16 


 20190532 2019-12-19 VAN DAN'S PAYMENT  65.65


2019-31 COUNCIL  3.85 


2019-32 ANNUAL MTG  20.65 


2019-33 REMEBERAANCE DAY CELEBRATION  41.15 


 20190534 2019-12-31 HUNSPERGER, PERRY


 20190535 2019-12-31 EDWARDS, JANET


 20190536 2019-12-31 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20190537 2019-12-31 CARTER, GERALD


 20190538 2019-12-31 LYBBERT, BART


 20190539 2019-12-31 LYBBERT, MYRON


 20190540 2019-12-31 ROLFSON, DAVID


 20190541 2019-12-31 CAMPBELL, ELIZA M


 20190542 2019-12-31 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  441.62



CAO

Typewritten Text



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190533 - cancelled



CAO

Typewritten Text



CAO

Typewritten Text







11:31:37AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-23Cheque Listing For Council


Page 2 of 3


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20190542 2019-12-31 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY 2019*12*LIBRARY 19*12*LIBRARY PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS  441.62  441.62


 20190543 2019-12-31 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD PAYMENT  37.75


35769 2019 BALANCE BLDG ETC.  37.75 


 20190544 2019-12-31 CAMPBELL, MARILEE PAYMENT  466.58


2019-BONUS 2019 BONUS  100.00 


2019-DEC SUBSCRIPTION, XMAS PARTY,WTP, C. HALL CELL PHONE 366.58 


 20190545 2019-12-31 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  3,188.61


2019-DEC DEC PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS  3,188.61 


 20190546 2019-12-31 CARTER, GERALD PAYMENT  222.72


2019-DEC-31 COUNCIL TRAVEL  222.72 


 20190547 2019-12-31 DIGITAL CONNECTION INC. PAYMENT  119.84


236182 PHOTOCOPING  119.84 


 20190548 2019-12-31 EDWARDS, JANET PAYMENT  211.36


2019-BONUS 2019-BONUS  100.00 


2019-DEC WTPLANT SAMPLES  111.36 


 20190549 2019-12-31 HUNSPERGER, PERRY PAYMENT  100.00


2019-BONUS 2019 BONUS  100.00 


 20190550 2019-12-31 KINAHAN, CARRIE PAYMENT  165.92


2019-BONUS 2019 BONUS  100.00 


2019-DEC COUNCIL XMAS  65.92 


 20190551 2019-12-31 LETHBRIDGE TRUCK TERMINALS PAYMENT  115.75


174748 CHEMICAL DELIVERY  115.75 


 20190552 2019-12-31 RMA- RURAL MUNICIPALITIES OF ALBERTA PAYMENT  202.20


RMA00029918 RMA ANNUAL MEMEBERSHIP FEES  202.20 


 20190553 2019-12-31 ROLFSON, DAVID PAYMENT  163.56


2019-DEC-23 COUNCIL EXPENSES  163.56 


 20190554 2019-12-31 SKOIEN PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION PAYMENT  3,255.00


INV-0564 CFO FEES  3,255.00 


 20190555 2019-12-31 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  1,747.08


2019 - DEC POSTAGE, TELUS, OFFICE SUPP, AWWOA, COM HALL 1,747.08 


 20190556 2019-12-31 CHIEF MOUNTAIN GAS CO-OP LTD PAYMENT  573.95


27290 FURNACE REPAIR COMM. HALL  573.95 


 20190557 2019-12-31 SMITH, KEVIN & KELLY PAYMENT  52.00


202001021 CREDIT BALANCE PAID  52.00 


 20190559 2019-12-31 MACMILLAN, BRENDA PAYMENT  143.45


202001061 CREDIT BALANCE PAID  143.45 


 20190561 2019-12-31 ALBERTA ONE CALL CORPORATION PAYMENT  18.90


IN156328 LINE LOCATES  18.90 


 20190562 2019-12-31 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  33.00


2019*12*Cal 2019*12 - 2ND PAYROLL RUN  33.00 


 20190564 2019-12-31 HUNSPERGER, PERRY PAYMENT  111.36


2019- NOV PICK UP SKID STEER  111.36 


 20190565 2019-12-31 KOST FIRE EQUIPMENT. LTD. PAYMENT  39.90


510025160 CLEATS FOR SKATING RINK  39.90 


 20190566 2019-12-31 PETTY CASH REPLENISH PAYMENT  53.60


2019*12*31 POSTAGE, COM. HALL  53.60 


 20190567 2019-12-31 PINCHER CREEK CO-OP PAYMENT  48.24


00296670A SHOP BLADES & HASPS  48.24 


 20190568 2019-12-31 RMA- RURAL MUNICIPALITIES OF ALBERTA PAYMENT  4.12


SC005255 ANNUAL FEES  4.12 


 20190569 2019-12-31 TWINPRO INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS PAYMENT  531.39



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190558 - on January 2020 cheque listing



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190560 - cheque cancelled



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190563 - cheque replaced







11:31:37AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-23Cheque Listing For Council


Page 3 of 3


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20190569 2019-12-31 TWINPRO INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS 33575 BLEECH & DRUMS  531.39  531.39


 20190570 2019-12-31 VAN DAN'S PAYMENT  390.30


2019 - 34 COUNCIL MISC.  390.30 


 20190571 2019-12-31 YOUNG, MYRNA PAYMENT  50.00


2018*11*MPC NOV 2018 MPC MTG.  50.00 


 20190572 2019-12-31 BECK'S EXCAVATING & TRUCKING LTD PAYMENT  31,160.85


2707 DRAINAGE ALONG 4TH AVE.  31,160.85 


 20190573 2019-12-31 ACCU-FLO METER SERVICE LTD. PAYMENT  3,439.80


88620 IRR. WATER METER  3,439.80 


 20190591 2019-12-31 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  730.36


2019 - 1-DEC OFFICE, FOREMAN, PHONE, STAFF, POSTAGE 730.36 


*** End of Report ***


Total  80,197.40



CAO

Typewritten Text



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190574-0590 on January 2020 cheque listing



CAO

Typewritten Text



CAO

Typewritten Text












 2:48:49PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 1 of 10


Taxation Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-102 Taxes - Chinook Foundation (5,551.50) (5,520.07) (5,871.00) (5,853.15) (17.85)


1-00-00-00-00-103 Taxes - Non-Residential (49,808.34) (49,488.39) (51,968.00) (52,143.99)  175.99 


1-00-00-00-00-105 Taxes - Linear (10,857.24) (12,961.37) (13,656.00) (14,004.13)  348.13 


1-00-00-00-00-108 Taxes - Residential (211,297.77) (217,615.50) (228,958.00) (227,643.38) (1,314.62)


1-00-00-00-00-110 Taxes - M&E (21,350.09) (21,706.20) (22,806.00) (22,805.99) (0.01)


*        TOTAL Taxation Revenue (298,864.94) (307,291.53) (323,259.00) (322,450.64) (808.36)


Administration Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-510 Taxes - Penalties & Costs (3,738.82) (4,370.61) (4,000.00) (2,115.22) (1,884.78)


1-00-00-00-00-541 Franchise & Concession ATCO Revenue (20,653.05) (3,322.30) (8,800.00) (21,758.35)  12,958.35 


1-00-00-00-00-550 Return on Investments (3,794.09) (3,153.87) (3,500.00) (6,279.08)  2,779.08 


1-00-00-00-00-590 Other Revenue from Own Sources (17,476.12) (350.00) (300.00) (746.00)  446.00 


1-12-00-00-00-410 Photocopy,Fax, etc Revenue (79.42) (266.55) (180.00) (166.05) (13.95)


1-12-00-00-00-433 Assessment Appeal Deposit (100.00) (50.00)  0.00 (50.00)  50.00 


1-12-00-00-00-525 License - Business (160.00) (160.00) (240.00) (280.00)  40.00 


1-12-00-00-00-561 Xplornet (1,962.39) (2,788.80) (2,000.00) (2,723.66)  723.66 


*        TOTAL Administration Revenue (47,963.89) (14,462.13) (19,020.00) (34,118.36) 15,098.36


Grants - Operating


1-00-00-00-00-843 Grant - MSI Operational (27,144.00) (34,832.00) (34,832.00) (34,147.00) (685.00)


*        TOTAL Grants - Operating (27,144.00) (34,832.00) (34,832.00) (34,147.00) (685.00)







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 2 of 10


Protective Services Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-990 Other Rev - NSF,  Fines, Lease (241.63) (665.00) (200.00) (35.00) (165.00)


*        TOTAL Protective Services Reve (241.63) (665.00) (200.00) (35.00) (165.00)


Shop Revenue


1-30-00-00-00-410 Equipment Pool Revenue  0.00 (400.00)  0.00 (110.00)  110.00 


1-32-00-00-00-591 Snow Removal Roads & Streets (80.00) (80.00) (100.00) (240.00)  140.00 


*        TOTAL Shop Revenue (80.00) (480.00) (100.00) (350.00) 250.00


Irrigation Revenue


1-40-00-00-00-410 Sales - Irrigation (9,028.63) (9,522.50) (10,000.00) (11,292.32)  1,292.32 


*        TOTAL Irrigation Revenue (9,028.63) (9,522.50) (10,000.00) (11,292.32) 1,292.32


Water Revenue


1-41-00-00-00-120 Water Connection Install  0.00  0.00  0.00 (5,000.00)  5,000.00 


1-41-00-00-00-121 Water On/Off Fee (210.00) (240.00) (100.00) (240.00)  140.00 


1-41-00-00-00-410 Sales - Water (111,999.77) (105,061.11) (108,000.00) (123,513.58)  15,513.58 


1-41-00-00-00-411 Water - Bulk Sales (3,270.45) (3,594.04) (3,000.00) (2,459.30) (540.70)


1-41-00-00-00-510 Water - Penalties & Costs (1,694.16) (411.91) (500.00) (114.61) (385.39)


*        TOTAL Water Revenue (117,174.38) (109,307.06) (111,600.00) (131,327.49) 19,727.49


Sewer Revenue


1-42-00-00-00-120 Sewer Connection Install  0.00  0.00  0.00 (2,000.00)  2,000.00 


1-42-00-00-00-410 Sales - Sewer (20,939.50) (26,831.66) (23,500.00) (22,578.00) (922.00)


1-42-00-00-00-411 Sales - Sewer RV Dumping Station (3,627.70) (3,092.75) (3,000.00) (3,126.35)  126.35 


1-42-00-00-00-412 Sewer RV Campground Agreements (2,000.00) (4,000.00) (4,000.00) (4,000.00)  0.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Revenue (26,567.20) (33,924.41) (30,500.00) (31,704.35) 1,204.35







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 3 of 10


Solid Waste Revenue


1-43-00-00-00-410 Sales - Solid Waste (11,678.75) (12,015.00) (12,000.00) (12,992.00)  992.00 


*        TOTAL Solid Waste Revenue (11,678.75) (12,015.00) (12,000.00) (12,992.00) 992.00


Cemetery Revenue


1-56-00-00-00-410 Cemetery - Plots & Fees (700.00) (1,260.00) (600.00) (1,130.00)  530.00 


1-56-00-00-00-420 Cemetery - Donations  0.00 (2,040.00)  0.00 (1,250.00)  1,250.00 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Revenue (700.00) (3,300.00) (600.00) (2,380.00) 1,780.00


Community Hall Revenue


1-74-02-00-00-560 Rentals Community Hall (1,280.00) (1,175.00) (1,000.00) (1,638.75)  638.75 


1-74-05-00-00-474 Post Office Rental Revenue  0.00  0.00 (1,400.00) (1,200.00) (200.00)


*        TOTAL Community Hall Revenue (1,280.00) (1,175.00) (2,400.00) (2,838.75) 438.75


Parks & Recreation Revenue


1-72-00-00-00-410 Sales & Services - Recreation (346.50) (100.00) (100.00) (349.50)  249.50 


1-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Revenue (44,015.94) (42,867.91) (47,600.00) (63,716.41)  16,116.41 


1-74-04-00-00-410 Pioneer Days funds-fireworks donations  0.00 (200.00)  0.00  50.00 (50.00)


1-72-00-00-00-840 Recreation Requisition (756.40) (6,809.00)  0.00 (5,798.10)  5,798.10 


*        TOTAL Parks & Recreation Reven (45,118.84) (49,976.91) (47,700.00) (69,814.01) 22,114.01


Development Revenue


1-12-00-00-00-490 Permit - Dev/Compliance (360.00) (1,350.00) (200.00)  455.00 (655.00)


1-61-00-00-00-410 Planning, Zoning & Development Charges  0.00 (50.00)  0.00  0.00  0.00 


*        TOTAL Development Revenue (360.00) (1,400.00) (200.00) 455.00 (655.00)


**       TOTAL Revenue (586,202.26) (578,351.54) (592,411.00) (652,994.92) 60,583.92







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 4 of 10


Council Expenses


2-11-00-00-00-153 Council Honorariums  11,100.00  10,050.00  11,000.00  9,850.00  1,150.00 


2-11-00-00-00-213 Council Travel  7,313.54  6,897.07  7,000.00  3,392.57  3,607.43 


2-11-00-00-00-520 Council Misc  5,059.08  3,772.50  4,000.00  2,060.86  1,939.14 


*        TOTAL Council Expenses 23,472.62 20,719.57 22,000.00 15,303.43 6,696.57


Administration Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Admin  108,741.88  117,586.80  86,500.00  77,647.60  8,852.40 


2-12-00-00-00-113 Travel & Training - CAO  2,779.01  3,838.92  4,000.00  3,077.56  922.44 


2-12-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Admin  5,708.29  4,596.92  5,500.00  5,576.39 (76.39)


2-12-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Admin  11,345.04  14,869.79  13,100.00  13,943.70 (843.70)


2-12-00-00-00-142 Workers Compensation Admin  2,869.08  2,063.23  2,500.00  2,551.22 (51.22)


2-12-00-00-00-150 Election & Census  986.14  409.03  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-210 Travel & Training - ADMIN  745.96  1,823.11  1,500.00  1,366.96  133.04 


2-12-00-00-00-215 Telephone Land Line Admin  1,298.50  1,003.01  1,500.00  873.13  626.87 


2-12-00-00-00-216 Fax Land Line Admin  1,263.68  779.87  1,000.00  740.30  259.70 


2-12-00-00-00-220 Advert, Printing, Memberships Admin  5,045.07  5,927.09  6,700.00  5,539.37  1,160.63 


2-12-00-00-00-230 Professional & Consulting Admin  50,531.31  33,559.89  40,000.00  31,603.60  8,396.40 


2-12-00-00-00-235 Postage & Freight Admin  2,705.85  2,490.83  2,500.00  1,434.66  1,065.34 


2-12-00-00-00-270 Misc Expense Admin  561.46  200.59  600.00  1,236.14 (636.14)


2-12-00-00-00-274 Insurance Admin  13,475.93  17,333.80  13,500.00  13,410.15  89.85 


2-12-00-00-00-280 Reg Fees Land Titles  51.35  236.00  200.00  90.00  110.00 


2-12-00-00-00-290 Office Bldg Maintenance Admin  2,258.87  729.03  800.00  206.83  593.17 


2-12-00-00-00-300 Assessor Fees Admin  6,870.00  7,407.51  8,000.00  5,997.17  2,002.83 


2-12-00-00-00-510 Office Expense Admin  2,440.74  2,077.73  2,750.00  2,900.45 (150.45)


2-12-00-00-00-540 Administration Utilities Power  2,325.85  2,530.90  2,750.00  2,472.54  277.46 


2-12-00-00-00-541 Administration Utilities Gas (1,174.05)  1,280.00  1,500.00  1,222.14  277.86 


2-12-00-00-00-777 Write-offs/ Discounts Tax Admin  17,910.11  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-810 Bank Charges Admin  2,923.40  2,677.87  2,750.00  1,901.70  848.30 


2-12-00-00-00-900 Other Expense Admin-DO NOT USE  50.00  7,739.84  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-520 Web Hosting Admin  1,250.00  1,250.00  1,300.00  1,250.00  50.00 


1-00-00-00-00-101 PENNY ROUNDING (0.06) (0.01)  0.00  0.01 (0.01)


2-12-00-00-00-999 Adm - Amortization  217,025.33  219,863.43  220,000.00  0.00  220,000.00 


*        TOTAL Administration Expenses 459,988.74 452,275.18 418,950.00 175,041.62 243,908.38







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 5 of 10


Protective Services Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-110 Fire & Emergency Management wages  80.00  497.74  1,000.00  250.00  750.00 


2-23-00-00-00-130 Employer source deduction Fire  0.00  0.87  50.00  0.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-270 Fire Misc  869.85  2,332.54  1,000.00  361.63  638.37 


2-23-00-00-00-510 Fire Goods & Supplies  38.25  95.41  50.00  0.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-540 Fire Utilities Power  1,927.00  1,644.37  1,950.00  1,954.88 (4.88)


2-23-00-00-00-541 Fire Utilities Gas  1,896.64  1,906.33  1,900.00  2,164.60 (264.60)


2-23-00-00-00-750 Fire Requisition  6,666.48  6,506.64  6,667.00  6,104.64  562.36 


2-23-00-00-00-760 Fire Dispatch Services  984.41  836.61  1,200.00  1,150.24  49.76 


2-23-00-00-00-770 Victim Services  0.00  600.00  600.00  600.00  0.00 


*        TOTAL Protective Services Expe 12,462.63 14,420.51 14,417.00 12,585.99 1,831.01


Shop Expenses


2-30-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Equip Pool  2,909.45  3,120.67  2,700.00  2,947.76 (247.76)


2-30-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Equip Pool  184.83  187.30  200.00  197.69  2.31 


2-30-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Equip Pool  156.18  156.02  200.00  1,010.34 (810.34)


2-31-00-00-00-110 Village Maintenance Wages  13,934.54  15,716.39  13,500.00  14,238.91 (738.91)


2-31-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions V-Main  924.18  936.58  800.00  988.28 (188.28)


2-31-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefits Vlg Maint  780.57  780.46  1,000.00  892.56  107.44 


2-31-00-00-00-250 Vlg Maint Contracted Services  2,288.81  2,075.00  2,500.00  228.64  2,271.36 


2-31-00-00-00-510 Vlg Maint Tools, Hardware, Op  2,881.96  1,230.39  2,000.00  823.18  1,176.82 


2-31-00-00-00-524 Vlg Maint Equip Supplies  1,270.30  2,040.54  2,000.00  1,684.06  315.94 


2-31-00-00-00-526 Vlg Maint Equip Supply Tractor  360.00  987.73  800.00  920.01 (120.01)


2-31-00-00-00-527 Vlg Maint Fuel  1,053.68  4,399.34  3,000.00  3,829.30 (829.30)


2-31-00-00-00-550 Safety Gear  312.40  341.45  500.00  151.32  348.68 


2-32-00-00-00-215 Telephone Shop  1,482.68  778.44  900.00  513.77  386.23 


2-32-00-00-00-217 Cell Phone Foreman  757.45  907.97  900.00  1,167.86 (267.86)


*        TOTAL Shop Expenses 29,297.03 33,658.28 31,000.00 29,593.68 1,406.32







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 6 of 10


Road & Street Expenses


2-32-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Streets & Roads  14,547.50  16,531.47  16,900.00  16,570.07  329.93 


2-32-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deduct Streets & Roads  924.18  1,017.39  1,000.00  1,041.15 (41.15)


2-32-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deduct Streets & Roads  780.57  820.13  1,200.00  892.56  307.44 


2-32-00-00-00-250 Streets & Roads Contracted Services  408.00  7,535.84  2,000.00  1,153.00  847.00 


2-32-00-00-00-260 Streets & Roads Goods & Servcies  529.61  0.00  1,000.00  390.56  609.44 


2-32-00-00-00-530 Streets & Roads Maint Materials  5,130.00  844.99  1,000.00  3,001.28 (2,001.28)


2-32-00-00-00-540 Streetlights  7,935.17  10,559.86  11,000.00  11,297.55 (297.55)


*        TOTAL Road & Street Expenses 30,255.03 37,309.68 34,100.00 34,346.17 (246.17)


Irrigation Expenses


2-40-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Irrigation  7,972.81  7,729.82  6,800.00  8,026.67 (1,226.67)


2-40-00-00-00-250 Irrg System Contracted Services  100.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-40-00-00-00-252 Irrg System Maint  1,479.20  329.97  750.00  973.75 (223.75)


2-40-00-00-00-540 Irrg System Utilities Power  3,071.88  3,248.23  3,500.00  2,518.52  981.48 


*        TOTAL Irrigation Expenses 12,623.89 11,308.02 11,550.00 11,518.94 31.06


Water Expenses


2-41-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Water  23,779.02  22,803.75  29,200.00  20,163.19  9,036.81 


2-41-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Water  1,837.39  1,730.48  2,400.00  1,737.99  662.01 


2-41-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Water  1,092.65  1,092.62  2,300.00  1,711.23  588.77 


2-41-00-00-00-210 Water - Seminars & Travel  2,812.14  1,823.34  3,000.00  3,172.04 (172.04)


2-41-00-00-00-215 Telephone Water Plant  1,262.51  1,078.35  1,100.00  1,040.30  59.70 


2-41-00-00-00-250 Water Supply Contracted Services  15,779.55  7,983.88  11,000.00  11,904.86 (904.86)


2-41-00-00-00-252 Water Supply Maint  7,969.73  1,968.90  3,000.00  2,390.88  609.12 


2-41-00-00-00-270 Water Supply Misc  1,449.31  22,947.95  1,500.00  203.72  1,296.28 


2-41-00-00-00-510 Water Supply Goods & Service  6,901.12  6,196.25  7,000.00  3,952.37  3,047.63 


2-41-00-00-00-540 Water Supply Utilities Power  8,264.44  10,156.53  10,500.00  11,074.78 (574.78)


2-41-00-00-00-541 Water Supply Utilities Gas  3,190.32  3,428.59  3,750.00  3,182.23  567.77 


2-41-00-00-00-905 Water Billing Discount  3,224.31  3,489.50  3,500.00  3,655.62 (155.62)


*        TOTAL Water Expenses 77,562.49 84,700.14 78,250.00 64,189.21 14,060.79







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 7 of 10


Sewer Expenses


2-42-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Sewer  2,909.45  3,020.67  2,700.00  2,847.76 (147.76)


2-42-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Sewer  184.83  187.30  200.00  197.69  2.31 


2-42-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Sewer  156.18  156.02  200.00  254.22 (54.22)


2-42-00-00-00-250 Sewer Contracted Services  2,504.11  19,819.86  5,250.00  2,481.70  2,768.30 


2-42-00-00-00-510 Sewer Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-42-00-00-00-905 Sewer Billing Discount  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Expenses 5,754.57 23,183.85 8,850.00 5,781.37 3,068.63


Solid Waste Expenses


2-43-00-00-00-250 Solid Waste Contracted Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-43-00-00-00-510 Solid Waste Goods & Services  0.00  50.48  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-43-00-00-00-750 Solid Waste Requisition - CMRSWA  6,747.37  6,747.37  7,000.00  7,792.56 (792.56)


2-43-00-00-00-751 Other Requisition - SAEWA  0.00  114.80  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-43-00-00-00-752 Requisition - County Transfer Station  5,531.62  0.00  3,200.00  3,126.80  73.20 


*        TOTAL Solid Waste Expenses 12,278.99 6,912.65 10,700.00 10,919.36 (219.36)


Cemetery Expenses


2-56-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Cemetery  2,363.13  1,688.45  2,000.00  3,092.68 (1,092.68)


2-56-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Cemetery  53.91  39.25  0.00  102.62 (102.62)


2-56-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Cemetery  0.00  0.00  0.00  67.66 (67.66)


2-56-00-00-00-251 Cemetery Maint  27.45  110.00  0.00  105.00 (105.00)


2-56-00-00-00-510 Cemetery Goods & Services  0.00  142.83  250.00  200.00  50.00 


2-56-00-00-00-540 Cemetery Utilities Power  1,105.30  947.99  1,100.00  920.82  179.18 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Expenses 3,549.79 2,928.52 3,350.00 4,488.78 (1,138.78)


Community Services


2-62-00-00-00-201 Community Service Misc  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-04-00-00-510 Pioneer Days expenses  3,500.00  3,000.00  0.00  150.00 (150.00)


2-74-05-00-00-540 Post Office Utilities Power  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-05-00-00-541 Post Office Utilities Gas  0.00  0.00  375.00  0.00  375.00 


*        TOTAL Community Services 3,500.00 3,000.00 1,375.00 150.00 1,225.00







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 8 of 10


Parks & Recreation Expenses


2-72-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Parks & Rec  2,909.44  4,396.15  2,000.00  5,724.79 (3,724.79)


2-72-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Parks & Rec  184.85  219.43  0.00  262.81 (262.81)


2-72-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Parks & Rec  156.01  156.27  0.00  253.73 (253.73)


2-72-00-00-00-510 Recreation Goods (DON'T USE)  3,223.76  2,582.43  3,400.00  37.21  3,362.79 


2-72-00-00-00-540 Recreation Utilities Power  1,093.51  951.94  1,000.00  977.98  22.02 


2-72-00-00-00-541 Recreation Utilities Gas  970.98  730.00  800.00  777.17  22.83 


2-72-00-00-00-725 Recreation Expenses (Vlg USE ONLY)  1,996.98  1,355.31  1,250.00  1,228.65  21.35 


*        TOTAL Parks & Recreation Expen 10,535.53 10,391.53 8,450.00 9,262.34 (812.34)


Community Hall Expenses


2-74-02-00-00-110 Salaries and Wages Community Hall  2,925.00  2,900.00  2,700.00  625.00  2,075.00 


2-74-02-00-00-250 Community Hall Contracted Service  491.00  488.95  500.00  315.00  185.00 


2-74-02-00-00-510 Community Hall Goods & Service  853.84  954.03  1,000.00  1,035.51 (35.51)


2-74-02-00-00-540 Community Hall Utilities Power  1,747.43  1,920.75  1,500.00  1,870.29 (370.29)


2-74-02-00-00-541 Community Hall Utilities Gas  1,504.60  1,240.96  1,125.00  1,319.73 (194.73)


*        TOTAL Community Hall Expenses 7,521.87 7,504.69 6,825.00 5,165.53 1,659.47


Library Expenses


2-74-01-00-00-250 Library Contracted Services (400.00)  968.38  1,000.00  886.57  113.43 


2-74-01-00-00-510 Library Goods and Services  531.94  0.00  500.00  10.45  489.55 


2-74-01-00-00-750 Library Society Operating Support  18,000.00  18,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00  0.00 


2-74-01-00-00-771 Requisition Chinook Arch Library  2,186.94  2,480.60  2,490.00  2,531.16 (41.16)


*        TOTAL Library Expenses 20,318.88 21,448.98 18,990.00 18,428.18 561.82







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 9 of 10


Pioneer Parlour Expenses


2-74-03-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Pioneer Parlour  16,186.06  18,973.75  22,200.00  22,604.66 (404.66)


2-74-03-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions PP  638.16  694.03  600.00  1,014.14 (414.14)


2-74-03-00-00-250 Pioneer Parlour Contracted Services  2,318.92  75.94  1,500.00  1,432.00  68.00 


2-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Expenses (Bldg)  803.70  939.03  1,000.00  2,711.05 (1,711.05)


2-74-03-00-00-510 Pioneer Parlour Goods & Services  16,619.23  17,203.67  19,500.00  21,632.83 (2,132.83)


2-74-03-00-00-540 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Power  1,600.86  1,598.36  1,700.00  1,608.34  91.66 


2-74-03-00-00-541 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Gas  1,073.93  834.76  1,100.00  914.92  185.08 


*        TOTAL Pioneer Parlour Expenses 39,240.86 40,319.54 47,600.00 51,917.94 (4,317.94)


Development Expenses


2-76-00-00-00-250 Development Contracted Services  100.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-76-00-00-00-251 Planning - GIS  4,616.05  1,659.00  1,730.00  5,044.12 (3,314.12)


2-76-00-00-00-252 ORRSC Requisition  0.00  3,288.28  3,650.00  500.00  3,150.00 


*        TOTAL Development Expenses 4,716.05 4,947.28 5,880.00 5,544.12 335.88


Community Support Requisitions


2-62-00-00-00-206 Com Services: Communities in Bloom  2,002.10  2,925.00  2,000.00  1,788.75  211.25 


2-62-00-00-00-208 Spring Glen Park Req/Exp/Donate  1,500.00  1,500.00  1,500.00  1,428.57  71.43 


2-62-00-00-00-209 Com Services: Glenwood Seniors Req  1,000.00  500.00  500.00  500.00  0.00 


2-62-00-00-00-210 Com Services: FCSS Requisition  2,671.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  0.00 


2-72-00-00-00-750 Recreation Brd Expenses (Vlg DON'T USE )  0.00  2,818.85  1,500.00  2,392.63 (892.63)


2-98-00-00-00-102 Req Chinook Foundation  5,551.83  5,520.09  5,871.00  5,870.52  0.48 


2-98-00-00-00-108 Req United Irrigation Dist  3,928.21  4,203.18  4,310.00  4,553.30 (243.30)


2-98-00-00-00-115 Req School Foundation  68,043.08  68,249.59  71,650.00  51,187.19  20,462.81 


2-62-00-00-00-750 Com Services: Farm Safety Ctr Donation  300.00  0.00  300.00  300.00  0.00 


2-98-00-00-00-116 DESIGNATED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 


(DIP)


 0.00  20.37  47.00  0.00  47.00 


*        TOTAL Community Support Requis 84,996.22 88,183.08 90,124.00 70,466.96 19,657.04


**       TOTAL Expenses 838,075.19 863,211.50 812,411.00 524,703.62 287,707.38


***      TOTAL Revenues Over Expenses 251,872.93 284,859.96 220,000.00 (128,291.30) 348,291.30







 2:48:50PM


2020-Jan-7


2019 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 YTD 


Actual


2019 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 10 of 10


Grants - Capital


1-00-00-00-00-842 Grant - MSI Capital (358,019.00) (88,225.34) (127,427.00) (92,127.00) (35,300.00)


1-00-00-00-00-846 Grants - FGTF/NDCC (150,000.00) (90,569.74) (78,200.00)  0.00 (78,200.00)


1-00-00-00-00-751 GRANTS - ACP INTERMUNICIPAL  0.00 (17,354.25)  0.00  0.00  0.00 


1-00-00-00-00-748 Grant Misc (13,133.34) (9,345.03) (1,500.00) (5,000.00)  3,500.00 


*        TOTAL Grants - Capital (521,152.34) (205,494.36) (207,127.00) (97,127.00) (110,000.00)


**       TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE (521,152.34) (205,494.36) (207,127.00) (97,127.00) (110,000.00)


Capital Expenses


2-31-00-00-00-762 Vlg Maint - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  7,200.00  0.00  7,200.00 


2-41-00-00-00-762 Water - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  50,000.00  0.00  50,000.00 


2-42-00-00-00-762 Sewer - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  1,973.00 (1,973.00)


2-32-00-00-00-762 Strts & Rds - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  113,407.00  49,080.00  64,327.00 


2-40-00-00-00-762 Irrigation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  5,000.00  0.00  5,000.00 


2-71-00-00-00-762 Parks & Recreation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  420.00  7,527.98 (7,107.98)


2-74-02-00-00-762 Community Hall - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  5,100.00  6,965.68 (1,865.68)


2-23-00-00-00-762 Protective Serv-Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  6,000.00  1,525.00  4,475.00 


2-74-01-00-00-762 Library - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  20,000.00  0.00  20,000.00 


*        TOTAL Capital Expenses 0.00 0.00 207,127.00 67,071.66 140,055.34


**       TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSES 0.00 0.00 207,127.00 67,071.66 140,055.34


***      Revenues Over Expenses - Capit (521,152.34) (205,494.36) 0.00 (30,055.34) 30,055.34


*** End of Report ***








 3:26:13PM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Jan-9Accounts Payable Bank Reconciliation


Page 1 of 1


December Balance Shown on Bank Statement  376,340.49 


Add   Outstanding Deposits


Deposit Description AmountDeposit DateBatch #


BANK DEPOSIT  7960 2019-12-31  792.01 


DEBIT DEPOSIT  7960 2019-12-31  730.00 


Sub Total


 1,522.01 


 377,862.50 


Total Deposits Outstanding  1,522.01 


Less   Outstanding Cheques


Payee AmountCheque DateCheque #


ALBERTA SERVICE - LAND TITLES  20190494 2019-11-28  10.00 


MACMILLAN, BRENDA  20190510 2019-11-28  50.00 


YOUNG, MYRNA  20190513 2019-11-28  50.00 


BENCHMARK ASSESSMENT CONSULTANTS INC 20190517 2019-12-09  1,384.26 


BENCHMARK ASSESSMENT CONSULTANTS INC 20190521 2019-12-16  692.12 


GLENWOOD TIRES, GERALD CARTER  20190523 2019-12-16  130.20 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMM.  20190527 2019-12-16  1,273.28 


WILDE BROTHERS ENGINEERING LTD  20190530 2019-12-16  4,200.00 


CANADA REVENUE AGENCY  20190542 2019-12-31  441.62 


AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD  20190543 2019-12-31  37.75 


CAMPBELL, MARILEE  20190544 2019-12-31  466.58 


CANADA REVENUE AGENCY  20190545 2019-12-31  3,188.61 


CARTER, GERALD  20190546 2019-12-31  222.72 


DIGITAL CONNECTION INC.  20190547 2019-12-31  119.84 


EDWARDS, JANET  20190548 2019-12-31  211.36 


HUNSPERGER, PERRY  20190549 2019-12-31  100.00 


KINAHAN, CARRIE  20190550 2019-12-31  165.92 


LETHBRIDGE TRUCK TERMINALS  20190551 2019-12-31  115.75 


RMA- RURAL MUNICIPALITIES OF ALBERTA  20190552 2019-12-31  202.20 


ROLFSON, DAVID  20190553 2019-12-31  163.56 


SKOIEN PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION  20190554 2019-12-31  3,255.00 


ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD  20190555 2019-12-31  1,747.08 


CHIEF MOUNTAIN GAS CO-OP LTD  20190556 2019-12-31  573.95 


SMITH, KEVIN & KELLY  20190557 2019-12-31  52.00 


MACMILLAN, BRENDA  20190559 2019-12-31  143.45 


 18,997.25 (18,997.25)Total Outstanding Cheques


And Adjustments


*** End of Report ***


Your Bank Balance Should Be


Your Reconciled Bank Balance Is


Difference


 358,865.25 


 0.00 


 358,865.25 








MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD DECEMBER 
5, 2019 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING 


Board Members Present:  
Royce Leavitt – Cardston County   Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston    
Tim Court – Town of Cardston    Tom Nish – Cardston County 
Don Shideler – Village of Hill Spring       
 
Others Present: 
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief    Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
  
Commenced at 5:02 p.m. 
 
Gerry Selk in the chair.                                                             
 
Opening Prayer:  Don Shideler 
 
AGENDA 
 
Tim Court moved to approve the agenda.          Carried 
 
MINUTES 


The minutes of the October 2, 2019, meeting was discussed.   


Royce Leavitt moved to accept the minutes of the October 2, 2019 meeting.       Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the October Emergency Services statistics are as follows:  4 MFR’s, 1 
Miscellaneous (permit burn), 2 false alarms, and 1 fire.   
 
The board requested that Danny get some actual code red figures from dispatch as the Authority does 
occur a cost when called out to assist. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the November Emergency Services statistics are as follows:  1 Miscellaneous 
(smoke in basement suite), 4 MVC’s, 1 false alarm and 1 structure fire (Waterton).   


 
Danny Melvin advised that the fire department had 2 booths at the Community Awareness Night and 
the event was well attended. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that on November 28, 2019 he met with the Ag Forestry.  They will provide any 
future required training for free to all firefighters.  Murray Millward, CEO of the Cardston County, has 
the agreement to sign between the Authority and the Ag Forestry. 
 







MINUTES CCES MEETING DECEMBER 5, 2019 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin advised that the firefighters are being paid for the year which is slightly under the 
budgeted amount due to the number of call outs.  There are 1,450 hours being paid out to firefighters 
within the Authority for the 2019 year. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the Authority received $1,500 in grant funding from AHS for MFR’s. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the breathing apparatus’s have been tested and all have passed.  Danny is 
working on getting new apparatus’s as the old ones only last 10 years and the new ones will last 15 
years. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that he has spoken with Jeff Shaw, CEO of the Town of Cardston, and Murray 
Millward, CEO of the Cardston County, regarding capital purchases.  The Authority would like to ask for 
$10,000 more per year placed in reserves for capital purchases. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that on November 29, 2019 he posted officer positions with the deadline to apply 
being December 13, 2019.  Danny inquired whether any board members would like to be involved with 
the selection process. 
 
Danny Melvin presented the 2020 Budget for the board to review. The requisitions would increase by 
about $500 for the 2020 Budget.  Danny will forward the budget to the municipalities to review. 
 
Tom Nish moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.        Carried 
 
The board will go over the employee evaluations with each staff member after this board meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 


Tim Court moved to adjourn.           Carried 


Adjournment at 5:52 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, January 9, 2019 at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.  


 


       
 








 
 


PRESENT:    
Reeve Lorne Hickey, Chair Lethbridge County   
Mayor Don McDowell Town of Nobleford Mayor Jim Willett Village of Coutts 
Mayor Ruth Goodwin Town of Black Diamond Councillor Gerald Carter Village of Glenwood 
Mayor Maggie Kronen Town of Cardston Mayor Dwight Davis Village of Hill Spring 


Mayor Dennis Cassie Town of Coalhurst Mayor Kathie Wight Village of Longview 


Mayor Brent Feyter Town of Fort Macleod Deputy Mayor Colette Glynn Village of Warner 


Deputy Mayor Brian Oliver Town of Magrath   


Mayor Peggy Losey Town of Milk River   


Mayor Cathy Moore Town of Picture Butte Reeve Randy Bullock County of Cardston 


Mayor Don Anderberg Town of Pincher Creek Reeve Steven Wikkerink County of Forty Mile 


Mayor Jim Depew Town of Raymond Reeve Jason Schneider County of Vulcan 


Mayor Margaret Plumtree Town of Vauxhall Reeve Randy Taylor County of Warner 


Mayor Thomas Grant Town of Vulcan   


  Mayor Chris Spearman City of Lethbridge 
    


  
Barney Reeves I.D 04 Waterton 


International Park  


Guests:  Reeve Brian Hammond MD of Pincher Creek 


  Reeve Merrill Harris MD of Taber 
Brian Brewin RMA Reeve Maryanne Sandberg MD of Willow Creek 


Roger Reid, MLA Livingstone-Macleod   


    


  Grant Hunter, MLA Taber-Warner 


    


  Maria Fitzpatrick, 
Rep for Shannon Phillips, MLA 


Lethbridge West 


  Nathan Neudorf, MLA Lethbridge East 


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


MINUTES 
Friday, December 6, 2019 


Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall 
910 – Fourth Avenue South, Lethbridge 


 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  
December 6, 2019 Minutes 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:00pm. 
 


 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 


Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra- Carried 
 
2.1 Election for Oldman Watershed representative –  
      Reeve Randy Bullock volunteered to represent the MD’s and Counties - Carried 
 
7.7 HALO Update – Reeve Lorne Hickey 


  
Approved - Carried 


3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
 Moved by Mayor Maggie Kronen - Carried 
 


4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 REPORTS 
 


  5.1 MP Reports –  
    MP Motz – Please see electronic report 


   
 5.2 MLA Reports 


    
   MLA Nathan Neudorf -  


• Discussed the provincial budget and the possible challenges presented. 


• Appreciates all the feedback from the Mayors and Reeves. 
 
   MLA Roger Reid 


• Asks for continued discussions and concerns to be brought forward for the MLA’s to 
better represent municipalities.  


• Discussed the provincial budget. 
 
 
   Associate Minister Grant Hunter, MLA 


• Passed 16 pieces of legislation this fall, all of which can be viewed on the 
Government of Alberta’s website. 


• Discussed budget cuts and the need for a sustainable government. 


• The United Conservative Party made 375 campaign promises and have fulfilled 
approximately 162, which can be viewed on the UCP website. 


• Discussed Police Funding and the problem with rural crime. 


• Discussed Oil and Gas – TMX will be built, taking 36 months to build. 


• Discussed the need for twinning Highway #3 and the economic impact it would have 
for Southern Alberta. 


• Discussed the challenges with healthcare and the need to get healthcare spending 
under control. 


 


    







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  
December 6, 2019 Minutes 


   Shannon Phillips, MLA – Representative Maria Fitzpatrick 


• MLA Phillips would like to hear from you if you have any concerns regarding the 
budget.  


 


 


6.0 PRESENTATION – 


 Keep Alberta Rolling, Brock Skretting, Head of Advocacy 


• Keep Alberta Rolling is a non-profit organization raising awareness in the Alberta 
film industry. 


• Discussed the economic benefits of the film industry in rural and Southern Alberta, 
including job creation and business use. 


• Discussed how to be a film friendly municipality – have a representative available 
for scouts to be in touch with. 


• Discussed the need for Alberta to have an “uncapped” film tax credit program. 


 


7.0 REPORTS 


 
7.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves 


• Submitted an application to the Community and Regional Economic Support Program 
(CARES) to build successful tourism in the area. 


• Discussed the need for more room for day visitors as tourism in the area is becoming 
increasingly more attractive. 


• Trying to put Southwest Alberta on the tourism map. 


 


7.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• Discussed Economic Development and Innovation. 


• Teleconference with Minister Fir including the REDA chairs was limited to one hour. 


 


 7.3 RMA – Brian Brewin 


• See electronic report sent out with December Agenda Package. 


• Discussed Bill 22 – Change of Alberta Capital Finance Authority. 


           7.4 AUMA – Mayor Margaret Plumtree 


• See electronic report sent out with December Agenda Package. 


• Federal Carbon Tax to take effect January 1, 2020. 


    


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Mayor Blair Painter 


• Currently accepting applications. 


• Thanked MP Harder and MLA Neudorf. 


 
 
 
 
 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 4  
December 6, 2019 Minutes 


        7.6 Highway #3 Association- Mayor Brent Feyter 


• Able to make more contact with the Pikani Nation in regards to a viability study. 


• Crowsnest Pass has a number of smaller projects planned in order to help reduce 
traffic back up during the construction on Highway #1. 


• Highway #3 continues to be busy; the association appreciates the support and 
acknowledgement of the need for twinning. 


 


 7.7 HALO – Reeve Lorne Hickey 


• The Minister of Health has said the Health Department will not be funding HALO, 
other than a fee for service model.  This will leave HALO with a funding short-fall. It 
has been asked that municipalities contribute some of their MSI funding to HALO. 


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, January 3, 2020 – Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall – 1:00pm 
 
10.0 ADJOURNMENT:  
 
  Moved Mayor Maggie Kronen to adjourn meeting at 3:10 pm.  Carried 
 
 
 


  








MINUTES OF THE CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY MEETING HELD DECEMBER 
11, 2019 AT THE LANDFILL SITE. 


Authority Members Present: 
 
Richard VanEe – Town of Magrath  Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston 
Philip Wright –  Town of Milk River  Robert Edwards – Village of Stirling  
Ralph Price – Town of Raymond   Wayne Harris – Cardston County 
David Rolfson – Village of Glenwood  Tyler Lindsay – Village of Warner   
    
Others Present: 
 
Abe Tinney - SEO  Lee Beazer – Operator  Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer  
        
Commenced at 4:44 pm   


Richard VanEe in the Chair. 


AGENDA 


Gerry Selk moved to approve the agenda.        Carried 


MINUTES      


Ralph Price moved to accept the minutes of the November 20, 2019 board meeting.   Carried 
 
Gerry Selk moved to accept the minutes of the November 20, 2019 organizational meeting.  Carried 
         
 


NEW BUSINESS 


The SEO presented the updated policy manual which has been worked on throughout the year and will 
continue to be updated in 2020.  The manual has been restructured into four sections (one for each sub-
committee) and it reflects the organization’s current status as an Authority.  When the commission is 
approved, the manual will be updated to reflect commission status and structure. 
 
The SEO reported that the 2020 Priorities are as follows:  seeking efficiencies (long-term plan for 
equipment, research industry best practices); connect with Blood Tribe to determine their long-term 
plans; Commission – when approval comes, work through the process; and continue working through 
the best practice study, regionalization options. 
 
The SEO inquired if there were any requests from the board for further 2020 priorities.  The board 
would like to know how to keep competitive with other waste removal businesses, save money, and 
improve recycling.   
 







MINUTES CMRSWA MEETING DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 


2 
Printed: 2019-12-21 


The board discussed the Blood Tribe building a new facility for waste disposal. 
 
Philip Wright moved to approve the SEO’s report.       Carried 
 
The Operator has spoken with Murray Millward, CEO for the Cardston County, to use the deadstock 
compost building to store cardboard.  Any municipality is able to ship the cardboard here to store until 
the market improves.  The Authority is authorized to use half the building.  The Operator advised that 
wire can be added right into the metal piles at the Transfer Stations. 
 
The Operator reported that 692.525 tonnes of waste were delivered to the Landfill in November, 2019; 
with no waste being diverted.   
 
The Operator advised that there were minimal repairs done on both trucks this past month. 
 
The Operator reported that the hydraulic floor in Glenwood has been repaired.  The gate in Del Bonita is 
in need of repair and the Operator will be going soon to assess the needed repairs. 
 
The Operator informed the board that the water samples for the year have been collected by Woods 
Engineering.  The results will be sent to Wilde Brothers Engineering so they can complete the year-end 
report. 
 
David Rolfson moved to approve the Operator’s report.       Carried 


Financial Statement 


The Financial Statement for November 30, 2019 was reviewed.    


Gerry Selk moved to accept the November 30, 2019 Financial Statement.     Carried 


Approval of Bills  


Bills for the month of November, 2019 were reviewed.  


Ralph Price moved to approve the bills for November, 2019.      Carried 


The SEO presented the 2020 Budget for the board to review.  The budget represents $1.25/capita 
increase which is due to legal and accounting fees to become a commission.  The two truck drivers will 
also receive a level increase due to additional training received. 


19-26 Gerry Selk moved to approve the 2020 Budget with the requisition rate being $25.91/capita 
before Transfer Station Depreciation.         Carried  


 


CORRESPONDENCE 


A letter from the Cardston County regarding the broadband project.         Filed 


 







MINUTES CMRSWA MEETING DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 


3 
Printed: 2019-12-21 


ADJOURNMENT 


Robert Edwards moved meeting adjourned. 


Adjournment at 5:33 p.m.  


Next Authority meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, January 8, 2020 at 4:30 p.m. at the Landfill Site. 


 
__________________________________   
Chairman 








   
 
  


 


 
 


Emergency Medical Services 
StoneGate Landing 


#70, 2626 Country Hills Blvd NE 
 Calgary, AB   T3N 1A7 


 


 
December 18, 2019 
 
Re: Notification of Alberta Health Services Emergency Medical Services (AHS EMS) Helicopter Air 
Ambulance Review  
 
I am pleased to share with you that Alberta Health Services (AHS) has initiated a full review of Alberta’s 
Helicopter Emergency Medical Service (HEMS) program with the aim to more clearly define the role of 
HEMS providers, unify practices and procedures across the province, and determine the most effective 
funding model to ensure that we are providing the best care possible for Albertans. 


The review commenced on November 22, 2019, and we anticipate it will take six to nine months to 
complete. As different helicopter EMS providers have developed at different times across the province, 
oversight and structure of each HEMS provider has also evolved differently. A consistent structure, 
operating guidelines, and funding for all HEMS providers across the province will benefit all Albertans.  


AHS EMS will conduct the review with oversight by a panel of subject matter experts from across Canada to 
ensure application of industry best practices. During the review, AHS EMS will maintain current Helicopter 
EMS operations and continue to fund providers within our established budget allotments and processes. 


As we review these services, we are seeking your feedback to ensure that the needs of all Albertans are 
considered and included in the review. To that end, we invite you to visit our HEMS Review page on 
Together4Health, which is AHS’ online engagement platform where Albertans can have their say on 
various health topics. We would encourage you to visit and provide your thoughts. You can register for 
the page to receive ongoing updates and stay informed as the review progresses.  


AHS is endeavoring to advise and offer engagement opportunities to all provincial stakeholders. Please feel 
free to share this communication with anyone you feel should be included. Should you have any questions 
or if you would like more information, you can contact us directly via Together4Health, or contact Gordon 
Bates, Associate Executive Director of EMS Provincial Air Ambulance (Gordon.Bates@ahs.ca).  


Thank you for your consideration, and we look forward to hearing from your community on this important 
initiative.  
 
Sincerely,  


  
Darren Sandbeck M.A., ACP (R) 
Senior Provincial Director & Chief Paramedic 
Alberta Health Services 
 
  



https://together4health.albertahealthservices.ca/

https://together4health.albertahealthservices.ca/

mailto:Gordon.Bates@ahs.ca






  







2 Seniors’ Week 2020 | Expression of Interest 


Seniors’ Week 2020 Expression of Interest 
Published by Alberta Seniors and Housing 
January 2020 
 © 2020 Government of Alberta. 


This publication is issued under the Open Government Licence – Alberta (http://open.alberta.ca/licence). 



http://open.alberta.ca/licence





 Seniors’ Week 2020 | Expression of Interest 3 


Table of Contents 


Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 4 


Background .................................................................................................................................. 4 


Selection Process ........................................................................................................................ 4 


Timelines ...................................................................................................................................... 4 


Co-Host Criteria ........................................................................................................................... 5 


Roles and Responsibilities ........................................................................................................... 5 


Alberta Seniors and Housing.................................................................................................... 5 


Community or Organization ...................................................................................................... 5 


Contact Information ...................................................................................................................... 6 


Written Submission ...................................................................................................................... 6 


Submission Deadline ................................................................................................................... 6 







4 Seniors’ Week 2020 | Expression of Interest 


Introduction 
Each year, the Government of Alberta 
joins with Albertans across the province to 
celebrate seniors and their contributions to 
our communities.  Seniors’ Week is held 
annually during the first full week of June, 
which is June 1 to 7, 2020. To learn more 
about Seniors’ Week please visit 
https://www.alberta.ca/seniors-week.aspx. 


Alberta Seniors and Housing is offering an opportunity for your community or organization to 
partner with us to co-host the Seniors’ Week Provincial Launch event on Monday, June 1, 2020. 
Organizations and/or communities interested in co-hosting the launch event are encouraged to 
submit a proposal.  


Co-hosting the launch event will increase your community/organization’s profile, and give you an 
opportunity to collaborate with government, and local organizations.   


Background 
Seniors’ Week has been recognized in Alberta for more than 30 years.  Approximately 350 to 500 
people typically attend the Seniors’ Week Provincial Launch event.   


Seniors and Housing will provide a grant up to $5,000 to the successful applicant to help offset 
the cost of co-hosting the Seniors’ Week Provincial Launch event. 


Selection Process 
Proposals will be reviewed to ensure all criteria are met. Organizations being considered may be 
interviewed in person or by telephone.  


Timelines 
Call for Expression of Interest January 6, 2020 
Deadline for submissions February 5, 2020 


Co-host notification  March 2020 


IS YOUR COMMUNITY OR ORGANIZATION 
HOSTING A COMMUNITY EVENT OR 
CELEBRATING A SPECIAL MILESTONE ON 
JUNE 1, 2020? 


IF SO, THIS MY BE A GREAT OPPORTUNITY! 



https://www.alberta.ca/seniors-week.aspx





 Seniors’ Week 2020 | Expression of Interest 5 


Co-Host Criteria 
Priority will be given to an organization or community that:  


• Can demonstrate available time and resources to actively participate in the planning of 
the event; 


• Has demonstrated a commitment to seniors; 
• Has demonstrated a history of strong community relationships and partnerships; 
• Is able to offer a range of activities during the event, including food and refreshments 


(e.g., pancake breakfast, barbecue lunch, coffee and tea, intergenerational activities, 
information fair); and 


• Has an accessible location with adequate parking and/or alternate transportation 
available.  


 


Roles and Responsibilities 
Alberta Seniors and Housing 


• Provides a grant to the co-host of up to $5,000 to offset the cost of the event; and   


• Participates in all aspects of event planning, including overseeing the creation of 
promotional and public relations materials, creating an agenda, and providing assistance 
at the event. 


Community or Organization  


• Plans the event with Alberta Seniors and Housing; 


• Promotes the event locally to ensure its success;  


• Obtains community support and sponsorship; 


• Obtains volunteers as needed;  


• Liaises with community organizations and municipal staff; 


• Coordinates activities and services; and 


• Provides a report summary that includes:  


o Approximate number of attendees; 


o Recommendations for improvements to future events; and 


o Summary of costs.  


 


Please complete the Expression of Interest Written Submission on the following page.  







6 Seniors’ Week 2020 | Expression of Interest 


Contact Information 
Organization name       


Contact person and title       


Email       


Phone number       


Website       


Number of paid staff        


Number of regular 
volunteers  


      


 


Written Submission 
Explain why you believe your organization is well positioned to co-host the Seniors’ Week 
Provincial Launch event on Monday, June 1, 2020.  Along with your written submission, please 
provide the following:  


• A proposed itinerary, including information about the venue or facility where you would 
like to host the event; 


• Letters of commitment from organizations confirming they will support the event (e.g., 
municipal government, other community-based organizations); and 


• Letter from a senior official of your organization (e.g., board president, mayor, chief or 
senior municipal official) confirming support for the event.  


 


Submission Deadline 
February 5, 2020, 4:30 p.m. (MST) 


Organizations will receive a confirmation 
when their proposal has been received.  


The successful applicant will be notified in 
March 2020.  


Please direct all questions and submit your completed 
submission to: 
 
Email:   seniorsinformation@gov.ab.ca 
Mail:     Alberta Seniors and Housing, Community Initiatives 
             Seniors’ Week Launch 
    6th Floor, Standard Life Centre 
            10405 Jasper Avenue 
    Edmonton AB  T5J 4R7 
  



mailto:seniorsinformation@gov.ab.ca



		Introduction

		Background

		Selection Process

		Timelines

		Co-Host Criteria

		Roles and Responsibilities

		Alberta Seniors and Housing

		Community or Organization



		Contact Information

		Written Submission

		Submission Deadline



		Organization name: 

		Contact person and title: 

		Email: 

		Phone number: 

		Website: 

		Number of paid staff: 

		Number of regular volunteers: 








 


 
  


 


 


Monthly Update for 


 RMA Districts 
January 2020 


 







2 


RMA Update for Districts – January 2020 


Police Costing Model Implementation 


In early December, the Government of Alberta (GOA) released details of a new police costing model for 
municipalities that currently receive policing from the RCMP under the Provincial Police Services 
Agreement. The model will be implemented April 1, 2020, with a formula based on 50 per cent 
population and 50 per cent equalized assessment with some subsidies available for all municipalities 
related to the crime severity index and shadow populations, and for urban municipalities based on 
detachment locations.  


The RMA has expressed concern with the ability for municipalities to contribute in the 2020 year as 
municipal budgets have already been established, and the association pushed hard for the province to 
delay implementation until 2021.  Unfortunately, the GOA has stated that implementation must begin 
in April 2020 as they are guided by regulation and efforts are already underway to secure additional 
police for 2020, which the GOA expects to incur costs for prior to 2021. Municipalities will not receive 
their first invoice until January 2021.  


To align with this implementation, the GOA is forming an Alberta Police Advisory Board, comprised of 
representatives from RMA, AUMA and the Alberta Association of Police Governance (AAPG).  Preliminary 
meetings will be held in early January to develop a Terms of Reference for the Board, which is intended 
to be in place by April 2020. In these preliminary meetings in setting the role and scope of the Board, the 
RMA will emphasize that the Board should serve towards building improved local input into policing at 
the detachment level that will reflect the new financial commitment now required of all municipalities. 


Assessment Model Review 


The Government of Alberta has been undertaking a robust review of assessment models for wells, 
pipelines and machinery and equipment, which included technical input from working groups comprised 
of subject matter expects over the past year.  In late 2019, the Government of Alberta advised that no 
changes would be made to these assessment models in 2020, with the exception of a 35 per cent 
reduction in assessment for shallow wells. Recognizing that changes to assessment would have 
significant impacts for both municipalities and industry, the announcement to delay implementation of 
changes is welcomed by RMA.  We anticipate being involved in more robust stakeholder engagement in 
early 2020 regarding these assessment models, with the understanding that changes may be 
implemented for 2021.   


RMA Survey on Unpaid Property Taxes 


In October 2019, RMA released a member survey to gather updated statistics on the amount of unpaid 
property taxes RMA members are currently facing from the oil and gas industry. The survey builds on a 
survey from early 2019 that resulted in RMA members identifying that an estimate of $81 million in 
unpaid taxes was being experienced.  To ensure the most robust data is available to support our 
advocacy, the survey deadline was extended to January 10, 2020.  Based on preliminary input, it is clear 
that this issue has grown significantly since early 2019. The RMA appreciates member input to inform 
this information and once all data has been received, results will be shared with members.  



https://rmalberta.com/news/government-of-alberta-releases-police-costing-model/





3 


RMA Update for Districts – January 2020 


Resolutions Update - Fall 2019 Advocacy Report Card 


Resolutions form an integral part of RMA’s advocacy efforts. In late December, RMA released the Fall 


2019 Advocacy Report Card, which provides an update on RMA’s advocacy efforts and statuses of all 


active resolutions, including initial statuses and RMA reactions to the spring 2019 resolutions.  


It is important to note that when a resolution has been assigned a status of “Accepted”, it is still 


reviewed for progress and updates during the bi-yearly Advocacy Report Card process. Following each 


review, the status may change depending on any developments that have occurred. Further, after 


resolutions expire and regardless of their status, RMA continues to reference them when related issues 


arise. 


 


RMA would like to acknowledge the work that the membership undertakes in drafting and debating 


resolutions that reflect issues of importance to rural municipalities. Endorsed resolutions provide 


direction for RMA and enable focused advocacy efforts. 


RMA Understanding Municipal Financial Reserves Report 


In November, the RMA released Understanding Municipal Financial Reserves, a short report intended 
to correct the misconception that financial reserves are a measure of municipal wealth. The report 
explains the important role that reserves play in effective municipal planning and decision-making, as 
well as the popularity of reserves among municipalities of all types and sizes. RMA members are invited 
to read the report and utilize the key points when discussing municipal finances with ratepayers, local 
industry or other stakeholders. 


RMA Spring 2020 Convention & Resolutions Deadline 


The RMA 2020 Spring Convention and Trade Show is taking place in Edmonton on March 16 to 18 at the 
Edmonton Convention Centre. Online registration will be open on January 6, 2020. This convention will 
be a great opportunity to engage with the provincial government and your municipal colleagues. 
Convention programming with include educational sessions, plenary speakers, and the resolution 
session. RMA staff will update members as the agenda is finalized.  


RMA’s resolution deadline for the Spring 2020 convention is February 21, 2020. All resolutions must be 
submitted to RMA in a Word document on or prior to this date. Check out the RMA’s Resolutions 
Resources for tips on resolution writing and to access a resolutions template.   


Federal Advocacy 


RMA’s federal advocacy is ongoing through involvement with the Federation of Canadian Municipalities 
(FCM) and in direct efforts through formal submissions to the Government of Canada and participation 
in consultation opportunities.  


The RMA is actively involved on the FCM Board of Directors, with recent discussions focused on the 
Western Economic Solutions Task (WEST) Force, advocacy post-election, a governance review that is 



https://rmalberta.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/FINAL-RMA-Fall-2019-Advocacy-Report-Card.pdf

https://rmalberta.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/FINAL-RMA-Fall-2019-Advocacy-Report-Card.pdf

https://rmalberta.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/RMA-Municipal-Financial-Reserve-Report.pdf

https://rmalberta.com/events-programs/rma-conventions/spring-convention/

https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/resolutions/

https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/resolutions/

https://rmalberta.com/news/fcm-report-for-rma-members-2/





4 


RMA Update for Districts – January 2020 


currently underway, and participation on FCM’s 2019 Advocacy Days. The FCM board will meet again in 
March where ongoing discussions stemming from the WEST Task Force and governance review will take 
place, in addition to standing committee discussions on policy work and resolutions.  


RMA regularly provides comments on broadband consultations by the Canadian Radio-television and 
Telecommunications Commission (CRTC) and Innovation, Science and Economic Development (ISED) 
Canada. Most recently, RMA submitted comments to the CRTC on the barriers to broadband deployment 
in underserved areas.    


RMA is also engaged in an ongoing conversation regarding upgrading rail crossings. New Transportation 
Canada rules require upgrades to intersections of roads and rail tracks. RMA is advocating for federal 
funding assistance for municipalities who will be required to make changes to the roads at these 
intersections. 


Opportunities for direct municipal input into federal consultations and updates on federal advocacy 
initiatives are shared through the RMA’s Contact Newsletter, and members are reminded to subscribe 
to stay informed. 


Municipal Climate Change Action Centre (MCCAC) Program Updates 


The Municipal Climate Change Action Centre (MCCAC) has exciting programs that can help municipalities 
take action with addressing climate change and reducing greenhouse gas emissions which result in cost 
savings. Visit www.mccac.ca to learn more about the programs being offered and make sure to check 
out RMA’s Contact newsletter every week to learn about MCCAC program updates.  


For more information about future webinars or programs offered by the MCCAC, please visit the MCCAC 
website or email contact@mccac.ca  


Upcoming EOEP Courses 


The Elected Officials Education Program (EOEP) will be offering two full day courses on March 16th as 
part of RMA’s Spring 2020 Convention. These courses are designed specifically to equip municipal 
elected officials with tools to help them succeed in their role. The courses being offered at RMA’s spring 
convention are: 


• Regional Partnerships and Collaboration – This course provides participants with an opportunity 
to learn about required collaborative tools such as intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, as 
well as other approaches municipalities can take to build meaningful partnerships with their 
municipal neighbours in a way that is fair and mutually beneficial. 


• Council’s Role in Public Engagement – This course provides an overview of the various ways 
municipalities can engage with citizens, how public input can be integrated into decision-making, 
the dangers and limits of involving the public in municipal decisions, and the importance of 
engagement in supporting sustainable community development. 


Those interested in registering for either course should do so as part of their registration for the 
convention. Online registration opens January 6, 2020. 



http://www.mccac.ca/

mailto:contact@mccac.ca

https://eoep.ca/





5 


RMA Update for Districts – January 2020 


RMA Communications 


Communicating with members is an essential role of the RMA, both to share information and to obtain 
member input.  To ensure that you are receiving the most up to date information, please subscribe to 
the Contact newsletter.  Contact is distributed weekly and includes important member bulletins, 
announcements, and links to news articles that may be of interest to Alberta’s municipalities.  


RMA is also active on social media so follow us on Twitter @RuralMA, check us out on LinkedIn, and find 
us on Facebook.  


 



https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/contact-newsletter/

https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/contact-newsletter/

https://twitter.com/ruralma?lang=en

https://ca.linkedin.com/company/rmalberta

https://www.facebook.com/rmalberta/






REVENUE
1 Requisition 741,945.18       ** 381,353.59       ** 798,105.60            **
2 Bldg Depreciation 20,762.00         20,762.00              
3 Landfill Waste Disposal 50,000.00         32,037.05 48,914.40              
4 Metal Disposal 9,000.00           9,000.00                 
5 Parks/Customs Requisition 3,000.00           3,300.00                 
6 Interest - Depreciation 10,000.00         17,448.84 10,000.00              
7             - Operating 2,000.00           2,248.55 2,000.00                 
8             - Closure/Post Closure 1,000.00           2,091.61 1,000.00                 
9 Land Lease 2,500.00           2,149.40 2,100.00                 


10 e-waste Revenue 10,000.00         4,488.44
11 Miscellaneous Income 1,000.00           180.58 1,000.00                 
12 Insurance Claim
13 Penalties on Overdue Accounts (Requ. & Landfill) 3,000.00           1,471.86 3,000.00                 
14 Transfer - Deprec. 354,681.00       304,681.00       65,000.00              
15 Tagged $ (from prior years operation)
16 Surplus Money (from prior years operation)
17            Total 1,208,888.18 748,150.92 964,182.00
18   Less Int. on Depreciation & Post Closure 11,000.00 19,540.45 11,000.00              
19        Total Revenue 1,197,888.18 728,610.47 953,182.00


EXPENSE
20 Trucking 190,000.00       138,019.26 195,000.00            
21 Payroll Expenses 265,000.00       172,844.67 274,000.00            
22 Contractor 36,000.00         24,045.00 30,000.00              
23 Delegation/Mileage/ Meals 9,000.00           2,130.45 5,000.00                 
24 Postage & Office 2,300.00           1,161.09 2,000.00                 
25 Telephone 4,500.00           2,961.59 4,400.00                 
26 Bank Charges & Bad Debts 3,535.00           2,117.39 3,500.00                 
27 Professional Fees - Audit 10,000.00         6,830.00 16,500.00              
28                            -Engineering 4,000.00           1,696.61 4,000.00                 
29                            -Legal 1,500.00           10,000.00              
30 Membership & Licenses 400.00               223.45 300.00                    
31 WCB Premiums 7,000.00           4,337.02 6,400.00                 
32 Miscellaneous & Advertising 1,000.00           500.00                    
33 Equipment Purchase 320,400.00       337,459.00 65,000.00              
34 Vehicle Repairs 1,100.00           2,286.96 3,000.00                 
35 Equipment & Trailer Repairs 49,281.00         54,156.85 40,000.00              
36 Fuel & Oil 25,037.18         21,186.92 25,000.00              
37 Shop Supplies & Small Tools 3,100.00           15,334.39 5,000.00                 
38 Protective Equipment 600.00               236.40 600.00                    
39 Maintenance - Bldg./Grounds 21,000.00         93,298.37 56,900.00              
40 Gravel 26,000.00         15,000.00 5,000.00                 
41 Shop Utilities 3,000.00           2,465.01 3,000.00                 
42 Insurance 16,000.00         255.44 15,000.00              
43 Station Repairs & Improvement 20,000.00         8,687.91 10,000.00              
44 e-waste payments to contractors( Alarm System) 12,000.00         4,264.03
45 Waste Diversion Incentives 14,500.00         10,575.06 12,000.00              
46 Training 2,700.00           1,456.08 1,500.00                 
47 Transfer - Post Closure 10,000.00         10,000.00              
48 Computer Equipment /Programs 4,000.00           1,014.99 3,000.00                 
49 Total 1,062,953.18 924,043.94 806,600.00


Depreciation 
50     Landfill Building 4,800.00           4,800.00                 
51     Trailer (Shuttle Van) 11,522.00         11,519.00              
52     Landfill Perimeter Fence - 2012 2,500.00           2,500.00                 
53    Windfence - 2013 9,050.00           9,050.00                 
54    Bull Fences - 2014 5,765.00           5,764.00                 
55    Bull Fences - 2015 4,328.00           4,328.00                 
56    Fuel Tank - 2015 1,129.00           1,128.00                 
57    Bull Fences - 2016 3,711.00           3,711.00                 
58    Trailer - 2016 14,446.00         14,446.00              
59    Peterbilt - 2016 10,928.00         10,928.00              
60    Bull Fences - 2017 3,954.00           3,954.00                 
61    Bobcat - 2017 11,598.00         
62    Bobcat - 2018 19,528.00         19,527.00              
63    Bull Fences - 2018 4,057.00           4,057.00                 
64   Track Loader Repairs - 2018 6,857.00           6,856.00                 
65   Cat Wheel Loader - 2019 18,027.00              
66   Bobcat - 2019 5,225.00                 
67   Total Deprec. (Excl. Transfer Stns.) 114,173.00 0.00 125,820.00
68 Total Transfer Stn Depreciation 20,762.00 20,762.00
69      TOTAL EXPENSES 1,197,888.18 924,043.94 953,182.00
70            Surplus/Deficit 0.00 -195,433.47 0.00


Note ** - This figure is based on a per capita cost of $24.66 - 2019 (Before Transfer Stn.Deprec.)
                   -This figure is based on a per capita cost of $25.91  - 2020(Before Transfer Stn. Deprec.)


CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS


For the Year-to-Date August 31, 2019 and 2020 Budget


2019 Budget 2020 Budget2019 YtoD


Printed:  2019-12-07





		Sheet1






Authority Town Population $ of Requisition
Depreciation 


on Bldg
Total per 


Capita
$ due Apr 


30/20
$ due Sep 


30/20
Ridge Country Authority Town of Milk River 827 25,591.02            12,795.51    12,795.51    


Village of Warner 373 11,542.26            5,771.13       5,771.13       
Village of Coutts 245 7,581.38              3,790.69       3,790.69       
County of Warner (new) 2679 82,900.05            41,450.02    41,450.03    


Sub Total 4,124          127,614.71          20,762             30.9444 63,807.35    63,807.36    


Chief Mountain Authority Town of Cardston 3909 101,282.19          50,641.10    50,641.09    
Town of Raymond 4252 110,169.32          55,084.66    55,084.66    
Town of Magrath 2435 63,090.85            31,545.43    31,545.42    
Cardston County 4481 116,102.71          58,051.36    58,051.35    
County of Warner (ptn) 1268 32,853.88            16,426.94    16,426.94    
Village of Stirling 1269 32,879.79            16,439.90    16,439.89    
Village of Hill Spring 162 4,197.42              2,098.71       2,098.71       
Village of Glenwood 316 8,187.56              4,093.78       4,093.78       
Blood Band 8587 222,489.17          111,244.59  111,244.58  


Sub Total 26,679        691,252.89          25.91 345,626.47  345,626.42  


TOTAL 30,803        818,867.60          20,762             409,433.82  409,433.78  


Requisition Budget for 2020 798,105.60          
(Excl. Transfer Stn. Deprec.)


CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY
REQUISITIONS - 2020


Printed: 2019-12-07





		Sheet1






© Brownlee LLP 1 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


THIS AGREEMENT made this ____ day of ____________, 2019


BETWEEN:


CARDSTON COUNTY
(hereinafter referred to as the “County”)


-and-


TOWN OF CARDSTON
(hereinafter referred to as “Cardston”)


-and-


TOWN OF MAGRATH
(hereinafter referred to as “Magrath”)


-and-


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD
(hereinafter referred to as “Glenwood”)


-and-


VILLAGE OF HILL SPRING
(hereinafter referred to as “Hill Spring”)


JOINT FIRE SERVICES AGREEMENT


WHEREAS:


A. The Parties operate the Cardston County Emergency Services and the Magrath and District 
Emergency Services comprising the Fire Departments;


B. The Parties wish to:


(a) formalize the  fire services/department arrangements between the respective individual 
Parties participating in the operation and funding of each Fire Department;


(b) advance, promote, and encourage opportunities and programs for collaboration amongst 
the Parties for their joint benefit, as well as the ultimate benefit of the residents of the 
respective Parties and the surrounding communities;


(c) ensure the safety of residents and businesses throughout the respective jurisdictions of the 
Parties through the coordinated operations of the Joint Fire Services;


(d) to operate the respective Fire Departments, as well as own and operate the respective 
equipment and facilities of each Fire Department, independently as stand-alone fire 
services departments, save and except for and/or subject to the collaborations and joint 
services contemplated within this Agreement;







© Brownlee LLP 2 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(e) to provide for planning, development, training and operation of the respective Fire 
Departments, as well as the procurement, management, maintenance, repair, operation, 
and replacement, or their respective equipment and facilities, in each case in the most 
efficient and cost effective manner;


C. The Parties have identified the value of establishing policies, programs and processes for 
collaborating on the planning, development, training and operation of their respective Fire 
Departments, the purchase, operation, use, maintenance, repair and replacement of their 
respective equipment and facilities, and the coordination and delivery of the Joint Fire Services, 
the Joint Fire Programs, for the joint benefit of the Fire Departments and the Parties;


D. The Parties are committed to participating, co-operating and coordinating with each other on an 
on-going basis, as further contemplated within this Agreement, for the joint benefit of the Parties;


NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions herein contained, the 
Parties hereto agree as follows:


ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS


1.1 Definitions. Unless otherwise specifically defined, all capitalized terms used throughout this 
Agreement shall have the meanings provided for within Schedule “A”.


1.2 Schedules. The following schedules are attached to, and form a part of, this Agreement:


Schedule “A” - Definitions & Interpretation
Schedule “B” - Joint Governance Committee/Board
Schedule “C” - Joint Emergency Services Committee
Schedule “D” - Fire Chiefs Committee
Schedule “E” - Mutual Aid Services
Schedule “F” - Joint Fire Services & Joint Fire Programs
Schedule “G” - Joint Fire Operations Budget & Payment
Schedule “H” - Insurance, Indemnity & Default
Schedule “I” - Dispute Resolution Procedure


ARTICLE 2 - SPIRIT, INTENT, AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES


2.1 Application.  Unless otherwise specifically provided for within this Agreement, this 
Agreement applies to:


(a) planning, development, training and operation of the Parties’ respective Fire 
Departments;


(b) planning, development, and operation of Joint Fire Programs; and 


(c) the coordination Equipment purchases to ensure interchangeable and 
interoperability across Fire Departments.


2.2 Guiding Principles.  The Parties recognize that the following principles should guide the 
planning, development, implementation and operation of the Joint Fire Services and the 
Joint Fire Programs:







© Brownlee LLP 3 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(a) Appropriateness – the collaboration amongst the Parties must be suitable for and 
beneficial to the Parties participating in the aspect of the collaboration;


(b) Adaptability – the collaboration amongst the Parties must be multi-dimensional and 
flexible to change, participation, and future growth;


(c) Accessibility – the benefits of the collaboration amongst the Parties must be 
accessible by all of the Parties, at their option;


(d) Affordability – the participation of aspects of the collaboration amongst the Parties must 
be efficient in planning, and economical to implement and/or operate, while maximizing 
synergies for the Parties; and


(e) Accountability – the benefits and burdens of the collaboration amongst the Parties must 
be shared by the Parties proportionately.


2.3 Consultation.  The Parties agree that they shall consult with one another in the planning, 
development, implementation and operation of the respective Joint Fire Services and Joint Fire 
Programs, to ensure maximum use and benefits to the Parties and surrounding communities. 


2.4 Co-operation.  The Parties agree to work together on a cooperative basis and to take such steps 
as may be necessary and to enter into such additional agreements as may be required from time to 
time in order to meet their objectives in planning, development, implementation and operation of 
the respective Joint Fire Services and Joint Fire Programs.  


2.5 Compliance with Laws.  The Parties shall comply with all applicable statutes and regulations 
governing the planning, development, implementation and operation of the respective Joint Fire 
Services and Joint Fire Programs, and shall at their expense take all necessary steps to ensure 
compliance with all statutes and regulations as may be applicable in that regard. 


2.6 Rights of Approval.  Except where otherwise specifically provided, each Party will act 
reasonably in each case that it is entitled to exercise discretion hereunder or pursuant hereto and, 
in particular, in each case where an action, document, thing, or matter is required to be acceptable 
or satisfactory to it or is affected by its approval, consent, opinion, or discretion; and without 
limitation foregoing, except where it is specifically provided that its consent may be unreasonably 
withheld, it will not unreasonably withhold or delay the exercise of any such discretion. 


2.7 Further Assurances.  The Parties agree that they shall from time to time execute such further 
assurances and documents as may be required by the Parties and their respective solicitors to give 
effect to the intent of this Agreement.


2.8 Independent Action.  Each Party acknowledges and agrees that, in respect of each aspect of the 
Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs that the Party is participating in, it shall not 
undertake any independent action with respect to the planning, development, implementation and 
operation of the respective Joint Fire Services and/or Joint Fire Programs outside of the 
governance, planning and operational processes provided herein.  Further, in the event that a 
Party does undertake independent action and incurs costs or obligations as a consequence of those 
actions, unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties, the Party undertaking the same shall be solely 
responsible for all such actions and any costs related thereto.  


2.9 Conflicting Actions.  Each Party acknowledges and agrees that it shall have the ability to 
undertake independent action, and to enter into agreements with third parties to this Agreement, 
with respect to the operation or management of their own Fire Department, their respective solely 







© Brownlee LLP 4 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


owned equipment and facilities, and their respective personnel.  These independent actions and 
agreements do not supersede this Agreement where any discrepancies exist.


ARTICLE 3 - TERM AND RENEWAL


3.1 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be effective from the date of execution of this 
Agreement, and continue unless and until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement.  


ARTICLE 4 - GOVERNANCE


4.1 Governance Committee/Board.  Unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties:


(a) subject always to subsection (b) below, each of the Fire Departments shall be managed, 
owned and operated as follows:


(i) the Cardston County Emergency Services by Cardston County, Town of 
Cardston, Village of Glenwood and Village of Spring Hill, by or through the 
CCES Committee/Board; and 


(ii) the Magrath and District Emergency Services by Cardston County and the Town 
of Magrath, by or through the Magrath Fire Committee/Board; 


in each case working with or through their respective Fire Chiefs; and


(b) the budgeting and operation of the Fire Departments, the Joint Fire Services and Joint 
Fire Programs, will be coordinated through the Joint Governance Committee/Board, 
working with the Joint Emergency Services Committee and the Joint Fire Coordinator;


upon and subject to the terms, covenants and conditions contained within this Agreement. 


4.2 Governance Committee/Board Membership, Scope and Terms of Reference.  The 
membership, scope and terms of reference for the Joint Governance Committee/Board for each 
Fire Department and the Joint Governance Committee/Board shall be governed by the provisions 
contained within Schedule “B”.


ARTICLE 5 - JOINT OPERATIONS


5.1 Joint Emergency Services Committee.  Unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties, the 
implementation, operation and administration of Joint Fire Services and Joint Fire Programs 
under this Agreement shall be coordinated and managed through the Joint Emergency Services 
Committee on behalf of the Parties, as contemplated within Schedule “C”, upon and subject to 
the terms, covenants and conditions contained within this Agreement. 


5.2 Joint Emergency Services Committee Membership, Scope and Terms of Reference.  The 
membership, scope and terms of reference for the Joint Emergency Services Committee shall be 
governed by the provisions contained within Schedule “C”. The Joint Emergency Services 
Committee will be responsible for the ongoing planning, budgeting and co-ordination of the 
Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs, and will specifically be involved in the following:


(a) ensuring all decisions and recommendations are made in accordance with the goals, 
principles, and spirit of this Agreement;







© Brownlee LLP 5 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(b) identifying, approving, budgeting and planning for the delivery of the Joint Fire Services 
and the Joint Fire Programs for the maximum benefit to the Parties;


(c) ensuring the operation of the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs are within 
the applicable budget parameters;


(d) ensuring the coordination of the operations of the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire 
Programs to maximize synergies for the Parties; 


(e) establishing agreed upon rates for equipment and personnel utilized in providing the 
Mutual Aid Services and/or Joint Fire Services, as may be applicable;


(f) equipment replacement, billing requirements, recruitment, policy and standard operating 
procedures, and any other matter that may affect the delivery of Mutual Aid Service 
and/or Joint Fire Services, or the operation of the Fire Departments; and


(g) exploring options for the further development and enhancement of the Joint Fire 
Programs, the development of new Joint Fire Programs, and the development policies, 
processes or other agreements, as may be determined to be necessary or prudent for the 
purposes of carrying out the spirit and intent of this Agreement;


in addition to making recommendations and reporting to the Joint Governance Committee/Board.


ARTICLE 6 - COORDINATION & IMPLEMENTATION


6.1 The Joint Fire Coordinator.  Unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties, the Joint Fire 
Coordinator shall undertake the coordination and management of the meetings and mandate of 
the Joint Emergency Services Committee on behalf of the Parties, as contemplated within 
Schedule “C” upon and subject to the terms, covenants and conditions contained within this 
Agreement. 


6.2 Fire Chiefs Committee Membership, Scope and Terms of Reference.  The membership, scope 
and terms of reference for the Fire Chiefs Committee shall be governed by the provisions 
contained within Schedule “D”. The Fire Chiefs Committee will be responsible for the ongoing 
implementation and operation of the Joint Fire Programs, and will specifically have the 
responsibility to:


(a) create, review and amend the SOG’s respecting the delivery of the Joint Fire Services;


(b) review, and recommend to the Joint Emergency Services Committee, respecting the 
delivery of the Mutual Aid Services and/or Joint Fire Services; 


(c) create, implement, manage and operate each of the Joint Fire Programs;


(d) coordinate the operations of the respective Fire Departments and the Joint Fire Programs;


(e) conduct and coordinate incident reviews respecting the Mutual Aid Services and/or the 
Joint Fire Services, and reviews of the Joint Fire Programs, and prepare recommendations 
for improvements to the Fire Departments, the Mutual Aid Services, the Joint Fire 
Services, and the Joint Fire Programs;


(f) manage and operate the Joint Fire Programs within the applicable budget parameters; and







© Brownlee LLP 6 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(g) explore options for the further development and enhancement of the Joint Fire Programs, 
the development of new Joint Fire Programs, and the development policies, processes or 
other agreements, as may be determined to be necessary or prudent for the purposes of 
carrying out the spirit and intent of this Agreement;


in each case, as contemplated within this Agreement, in addition to making recommendations and 
reporting to the Joint Emergency Services Committee in respect of the foregoing.


ARTICLE 7 - OWNERSHIP, CONTROL, OPERATION AND RESPONSIBILITY


7.1 Ownership & Control of Fire Departments, Equipment & Facilities.  It is acknowledged and 
agreed between the Parties that:


(a) each Fire Department is under the ownership and/or operation of the respective Parties 
operating under the respective Department Governance Committee/Board including, 
without restriction, the personnel, the equipment and facilities used to operate the 
respective Fire Departments; and


(b) notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties shall operate, manage, maintain, and use each 
Fire Department in a coordinated manner under the direction of the Joint Governance 
Committee/Board, the Joint Emergency Services Committee and the Joint Fire 
Coordinator.


7.2 Joint Fire Coordination.  Subject always to the Standard Operating Guidelines established from 
time to time, in the event of any:


(a) joint or combined operation of the Fire Departments; or


(b) a response to multiple Emergencies impacting any of the jurisdictions of the Parties at the 
same time;


(c) a response to an Emergency impacting Two (2) or more of the jurisdictions of the Parties 
at the same time;


or any combination of the foregoing, the Joint Fire Coordinator shall have final authority 
respecting the coordination of equipment, resources and personnel, and the allocation of those 
resources in response to the Emergency or Emergencies;


7.3 The Joint Fire Services & Programs.  Notwithstanding the foregoing independent operation 
and funding of the Fire Departments, the Parties shall operate and manage the Fire Departments 
in a coordinated manner:


(a) as contemplated within the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs;


(b) as directed by the Joint Emergency Services Committee; and


(c) by and through the coordination of the Joint Fire Coordinator and the Fire Chiefs 
Committee;


and as further contemplated within the terms, covenants and conditions contained within this 
Agreement.


ARTICLE 8 - FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY







© Brownlee LLP 7 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


8.1 Fire Department.  Each of the Parties will be responsible for its Proportionate Share of the costs 
of operating the respective Fire Department, which Proportionate Share shall be established by 
being agreed in writing by the Parties in accordance with the provisions of Schedule “B”;


8.2 Mutual Aid Program.  Each of the Parties will be responsible for payment of the costs of 
providing the Mutual Aid Services which are invoiced by the Responding Party in accordance 
with the provisions of Schedule “E”.


8.3 Joint Fire Coordinator.  Each of the Parties will be responsible for its Proportionate Share of the 
costs of the Joint Fire Coordinator, which Proportionate Share shall be established by being 
agreed in writing by the Parties in accordance with the provisions of Schedule “G”;


8.4 Joint Fire Services.  Each of the Parties will be responsible for its Proportionate Share of costs of 
providing Joint Fire Services as contemplated within Schedule “G”, which Proportionate Share 
shall be established by being agreed in writing by the Parties in accordance with the provisions of 
Schedule “G”.  


8.5 Joint Fire Programs.  Each of the Parties will be responsible for its Proportionate Share of costs 
of providing Joint Fire Programs, as contemplated within Schedule “G”, which Proportionate 
Share shall be established by being agreed in writing by the Parties in accordance with the 
provisions of Schedule “G”.  


8.6 Payment and Responsibilities.  The financial responsibilities of each of the Parties in respect of 
the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs, are provided within Schedule “G”.


8.7 Goods and Services Tax.  Each Party shall be responsible to pay all GST and other properly 
assessed taxes in connection with this Agreement. The Parties shall, however, manage their 
respective obligations respecting payment, collection and remittance of GST in a manner that 
provides for the most efficient process as possible for the Parties including, without restriction, 
ensuring that where appropriate under the applicable legislation all rebates or credits of GST 
available to the Parties are accounted for prior to charging or collecting any cost under this 
Agreement.


ARTICLE 9 - BUDGET MANAGEMENT


9.1 Joint Fire Operations Budgeting Process & Responsibilities.  The Fire Departments will 
prepare and present to the Parties all budgeting and reporting respecting the Joint Fire Services in 
a manner consistent with the budgeting and reporting contemplated within Schedule “G”. The 
Joint Fire Coordinator will coordinate with the individual Fire Departments so as to provide for a 
Joint Fire Operations Budget, and agreement upon the Proportionate Share contribution of each of 
the Parties, each occurring as contemplated within Schedule “G”.


ARTICLE 10 - INSURANCE, INDEMNITY & DEFAULT


10.1 Insurance.  Throughout the Term of this Agreement, the Parties shall maintain the insurance 
coverage provided for within Schedule “H”.


10.2 Indemnity & Default.  Each Party shall be subject to the indemnity, liability and default 
provisions provided for within Schedule “H”.


ARTICLE 11 - EXPIRATION & TERMINATION


11.1 Expiration.  The provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until 
terminated in accordance with the following provisions.







© Brownlee LLP 8 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


11.2 Termination.  The Parties may agree to terminate this Agreement at any time upon mutual 
agreement, subject always to:


(a) the disposition of any property held under the Joint Fire Programs;


(b) the termination and satisfaction of any properly authorized agreements made by the Joint 
Fire Coordinator, or any Party for and on behalf of the Parties or participating Parties, as 
the case may be; 


(c) settlement of all liabilities of the Parties in respect of the Joint Fire Services, the Joint 
Fire Programs and this Agreement; and


(d) the dispersal of all funds held by the Joint Fire Coordinator or the Parties in respect of the 
forgoing; 


all as directed by the Joint Emergency Services Committee or as otherwise agreed upon in writing 
of the Parties.


11.3 Withdrawal.  The Parties agree that a Party may withdraw from this Agreement provided always 
that:


(a) the withdrawing Party has provided not less than Eighteen (18) months notice in writing 
of the intention to withdraw; and


(b) the Parties have agreed upon a settlement of all ownership interests, liabilities, and 
financial responsibilities respecting the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs, 
and this Agreement.


11.4 Final Determination.  In the event of an inability of the Parties, or any of them, to settle any of 
the foregoing, the outstanding issue(s), matter(s) or thing(s) shall be referred to be resolved 
pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 


ARTICLE 12 - GENERAL


12.1 Dispute Resolution.  In the event of the disagreement between the Parties with respect to issue, 
matter or thing arising from this Agreement (other than default in payment of a financial 
obligation) the Parties shall refer such dispute to be resolved pursuant to the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure.


12.2 Notice.  The address for service of notices and other documents or payments owned are as 
follows:


Cardston County
PO Box 580
Cardston, AB T0K 0K0
Attention:  Chief Administrative Officer
Phone: 403-653-4977
Fax:  403-653-1126
Email: murray@cardstoncounty.com 


Town of Cardston
PO Box 280
Cardston, AB T0K 0K0
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer



mailto:murray@cardstoncounty.com





© Brownlee LLP 9 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


Phone: 403-653-3366
Fax: 403-653-2499
Email:  jeff@cardston.ca


Town of Magrath
PO Box 520
Magrath, AB T0K 1J0
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer
Phone: 403-758-3212
Fax: 403-758-6333
Email:   wade@magrath.ca


Village of Glenwood
PO Box 1084
Glenwood, AB T0K 2R0
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer
Phone: 403-626-3233
Fax: 403-626-3234
Email:   marilee.campbell@glenwood.ca


Village of Hill Spring 
PO Box 40
Hill Spring, AB T0K 1E0
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer
Phone: 403-626-3876
Fax: 403-626-2333
Email:  office@hillspring.ca


Or such other address as the Parties may respectively designate from time to time.  Any notice 
required or permitted by this Agreement may be served on the Parties by hand delivery or by 
mail.  Notices sent by mail will be deemed to have been received three business days after 
mailing.  In the event of a general postal disruption, notice shall not be attempted by mail.


[Balance of page intentionally left blank - Execution page to follow]







© Brownlee LLP 10 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this agreement as of the day and year first above 
written.


CARDSTON COUNTY


Per: ________________________________


Per: ________________________________


TOWN OF CARDSTON


Per: ________________________________


Per: ________________________________


TOWN OF MAGRATH


Per: ________________________________


Per: ________________________________


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


Per: ________________________________


Per: ________________________________


VILLAGE OF HILL SPRING


Per: ________________________________


Per: ________________________________







© Brownlee LLP 11 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “A”


DEFINITIONS


1. Definitions


All capitalized terms used throughout this Agreement shall have the following meanings, unless otherwise 
specifically defined:


(a) “Agreement” means this Joint Fire Services Collaboration Agreement, together with all schedules 
attached hereto;


(b) “Cardston County Emergency Services” means the equipment, facilities, personnel and 
corresponding emergency services operations jointly owned and operated by the County, 
Cardston, Glenwood and Hill Spring; 


(c) “Dispute Resolution Procedure” means that procedure for the resolution of disputes between the 
Parties contained within Schedule “I” attached hereto;


(d) “Emergency” means a sudden unexpected happening or unexpected occasion for action in which 
events require trained Firefighters to use their skill and judgment in the application of firefighting 
equipment or rescue equipment and techniques to manage the emergency scene, and 
“Emergencies” means two (2) of more of them;


(e) “Fire Chiefs” means the fire chiefs for each of the Fire Departments appointed from time to time 
by the respective Parties, and “Fire Chief” means any one of them;


(f) “Fire Chiefs Committee” means the committee of fire chiefs as described in Article 6 and 
Schedule “D” of this Agreement;


(g) “Fire Departments” means, collectively:


(i) the Cardston County Emergency Services; and


(ii) the Magrath and District Emergency Services;


and “Fire Department” means any one of them;


(h) “Fire Suppression” includes the application of equipment and training to extinguish fires either 
on land or in structures;


(i) “Fiscal Year” means the financial or operating year of this Agreement, which year shall be a 
calendar year unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties or otherwise determined by the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee;


(j) “Force Majeure” means any event causing a bona fide delay in the performance of any 
obligations under this Agreement and resulting from:


(i) an inability to obtain materials, goods, equipment, services, utilities or labour;


(ii) any statute, law, by-law, regulation, order in council, or order of any competent authority 
other than one of the Parties;


(iii) an inability to procure any license, permit, permission, or authority necessary for the 
performance of such obligations, after every reasonable effort has been made to do so;







© Brownlee LLP 12 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(iv) a strike, lockout, slowdown, or other combined action of workers; or


(v) an act of God;


Notwithstanding the foregoing, no event caused by an act or omission by any Party, or caused by 
an act or omission by a person not at arm’s length from any Party, or caused by the financial 
incapacity of any Party, will be considered to be an event of Force Majeure;


(k)  “GST” means Goods and Services Tax payable pursuant to the Excise Tax Act, R.S.C. 1985, c.E-
15, as amended from time to time;


(l) “Interest” means that rate of interest as determined by the Joint Emergency Services Committee 
from time to time;


(m) “Joint Emergency Services Committee” means the Joint Emergency Services Committee as 
described in Article 5 and Schedule “C” of this Agreement;


(n) “Joint Fire Coordinator” means the __________________, employed by the County, or such 
further or other individual or position as the Parties may appoint from time to time; 


(o) “Joint Fire Coordinator Costs” means costs of the Joint Fire Coordinator, including salary, 
benefits, and expenses, or a reasonable proportionate share thereof as may be applicable to the 
Joint Fire Coordinator’s responsibilities under this Agreement as determined by the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee under the Joint Fire Operations Budget;


(p) “Joint Fire Operations Budget” means the proposed operating budget for the Joint Fire Services 
contemplated within Section 9.1 of this Agreement, as well as within Schedule “G”, as amended 
from time to time and as presented and approved annually as provided for within this Agreement;


(q) “Joint Fire Programs” means, collectively, the Joint Fire Programs described or contemplated 
within Schedule “F” attached to this Agreement;


(r) “Joint Fire Services” means, collectively, the Joint Fire Services described or contemplated 
within Schedule “F”;


(s) “Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs” means:


(i) the Joint Fire Coordinator Costs; 


(ii) the costs of coordination, management and operation of the Joint Fire Services;


(iii) the costs of coordination, management and operation of the Joint Fire Programs;


as more particularly provided for within the Joint Fire Operations Budget, and those costs which 
are specifically the responsibility of each Party as contemplated within Schedule “G” or 
otherwise excluded from the Joint Fire Operations Budget under this Agreement;


(t) “Joint Governance Committee/Board” means the Joint Governance Committee/Board as 
described in Article 4 and Schedule “B” of this Agreement;


(u) “Magrath and District Emergency Services” means the equipment, facilities, personnel and 
corresponding emergency services operations jointly owned and operated by the County and 
Magrath;


(v) “Mutual Aid Services” means those services outlined within Schedule “E”;







© Brownlee LLP 13 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(w) “Parties” means, collectively, the parties executing this Agreement, and “Party” means one of 
them;


(x) “Proportionate Share” means the Parties’ respective share of the responsibility for the Joint Fire 
Services & Programs Costs, including the costs of the Joint Fire Coordinator, and operating costs 
of the Respective Fire Departments, as more particularly described within Schedule “G”;


(y) “Rates” means the equipment and personnel rates approved from time to time by the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee;


(z) “Responding Party” means a Party who has responded to a request for Mutual Aid Services 
under the provisions of Schedule “E”;


(aa) “Requesting Party” means a Party who has requested Mutual Aid Services under the provisions 
of Schedule “E”;


(a) “Standard Operating Guidelines” or “SOG’s” means those standard operating guidelines for the 
performance of Emergency and Fire Suppression services contemplated within this Agreement 
within each respective municipality comprising the Parties, which Standard Operating Guidelines 
or SOG’s shall be established from time to time by each respective municipality comprising the 
Parties and in consultation with the Fire Chiefs Committee as part of the Joint Fire Programs; and


(b) “Term” means the term of this Agreement, or renewal term as the case may be, as contemplated 
within Article 3 of this Agreement.


2. Compliance With Laws  


Each Party will carry on its operations and activities as contemplated within this Agreement in compliance with all 
applicable laws, by-laws and regulations. 


3. New Parties


In the event that a new party wishes to join the collaborations under this Agreement, the Joint Governance 
Committee/Board will review the request along with its merits, implications, and recommended method of joining.  
In conjunction with this review, the Joint Emergency Services Committee shall make its recommendation to the 
Parties respecting this application of a new party.  A new agreement may be required to adjust the Joint Fire 
Programs and the respective Parties’ Proportionate Share.


4. Assignment 


The Parties shall not assign this Agreement, and shall not grant any rights to any person, firm or corporation under 
this Agreement, except as permitted by agreement of the Parties.


5. Severable


If any portion of this Agreement is unenforceable for any reason, that portion shall be severed, and the balance of 
the Agreement shall remain and be binding.


6. No Partnership


Nothing contained in this Agreement or in any acts of the Parties hereto shall be deemed to create any relationship 
or partnership other than that of licensees and common usage as set forth.


7. Interpretation and Amendments







© Brownlee LLP 14 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


This Agreement as and from its effective date supersedes and extinguishes all prior agreements between the Parties 
relating to the Joint Fires Services and the Joint Fire Programs. Agreements that follow this effective date will be 
considered as enhancements not replacements.  The Agreement is the entire Agreement between the Parties in 
respect to the issues contained herein and it may not be and shall not be amended or altered in any way other than by 
an amending agreement in writing duly executed by the Parties. 







© Brownlee LLP 15 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “B”


JOINT GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE/BOARD


1. Joint Governance Committees/Boards


The Joint Governance Committee/Board shall be made up of the following:


(a) Two (2) elected members of Council of each of Cardston County, Town of Cardston, Town of 
Magrath; and


(b) One (1) elected member of Council of each of Village Glenwood and Village of Hill Spring;


for the purposes of carrying out the responsibilities contemplated within Article 4 and Section 7.1 of this Agreement 
and this Schedule.


2. Joint Governance Committee/Board and Chair of the Joint Governance Committee/Board


The power and authority of the Joint Governance Committee/Board shall be subject to the terms and provisions of 
this Agreement.  Their role shall be to make decisions and to give approvals in connection with 


(a) the coordination of the operation, management, maintenance, and use of each Fire 
Department; and


(b) the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs under this Agreement. 


Unless otherwise unanimously agreed to by the Parties, the Chair of the Joint Governance Committee/Board shall 
rotate on an annual basis between each of the Parties. The Chair for the first year will be a representative elected the 
members of the Joint Governance Committee/Board, and thereafter the Chair shall rotate through the representatives 
of the Parties in an order agreed upon by the Joint Governance Committee/Board.


3. Representatives


Each representative will have the authority to make decisions on behalf of their respective organization.  The Parties 
may each appoint alternate representatives to act on the Joint Governance Committee/Board in substitution for their 
appointed representative. Each of the Parties may at any time and from time to time by written notice replace its 
representative appointed by it, and any representative so replaced shall cease to be a Joint Governance 
Committee/Board member upon the giving of such notice.  Copies of written notices shall be given to the other 
Parties, the individual so appointed as a new Joint Governance Committee/Board member, and the Joint Governance 
Committee/Board member who has been replaced.


4. Vacancies


A vacancy on the Joint Governance Committee/Board shall be filled by the Party who appointed the former 
representative whose loss created the vacancy.  If there is a vacancy in the Joint Governance Committee/Board, the 
remaining representatives may continue to exercise the powers of the Joint Governance Committee/Board in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.


5. Action by the Joint Governance Committee/Board


Subject to paragraph 12 of this Schedule, the powers of the Joint Governance Committee/Board may be exercised by 
resolution at a meeting of the Joint Governance Committee/Board members at which a quorum is present. Quorum 







© Brownlee LLP 16 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


for meetings of the Joint Governance Committee/Board shall be satisfied where all members of the Joint 
Governance Committee/Board (or their authorized replacement, as contemplated within this Schedule) are present.


6. Attendance and Meetings


The Joint Governance Committee/Board, but not an individual Joint Governance Committee/Board member, may 
decide to invite the general public, special interest group(s), or other private or public bodies and agencies to attend 
any meeting of the Joint Governance Committee/Board and/or make submissions to the Joint Governance 
Committee/Board with respect to any matter or question being considered by it. The Joint Governance 
Committee/Board shall meet at least Four (4) times a year, or more as the Joint Governance Committee/Board 
determines.  Notice of the time, place, and agenda of every meeting shall be given by the Chair with not less than 
One (1) week notice.


7. Voting Rights


At any meeting of Joint Governance Committee/Board, each member shall be entitled to vote on each question 
submitted to the Joint Governance Committee/Board for decision and each such member shall have one vote. 


8. Budget and Operations


Each Fire Chief shall submit the annual operating budget for the respective Fire Department to the Joint Fire 
Coordinator in accordance with Schedule “G”. For clarity, budgeting for each Fire Department shall be separate 
and apart from the Joint Operations Budget and associated terms related to the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire 
Programs.


9. Records


The Joint Governance Committee/Board shall arrange for proper written records, and minute taking of all meetings 
and decisions of the Joint Governance Committee/Board to be kept and maintained and copies of same shall be sent 
to each member of the Joint Governance Committee/Board within Fifteen (15) business days following each 
meeting of the Joint Governance Committee/Board. The Joint Governance Committee/Board member shall be 
entitled to reasonable access to all files and records of the Joint Governance Committee/Board at all reasonable 
times and shall be given the opportunity to make copies thereof from time to time. 


All records of the Joint Governance Committee/Board will be retained at the offices of Joint Fire Coordinator.


10. Limitation of Liability


No Joint Governance Committee/Board member shall be liable for the acts, neglect or default of such Joint 
Governance Committee/Board member, any other Joint Governance Committee/Board member, and/or the Joint 
Governance Committee/Board as a whole, provided that such Joint Governance Committee/Board member has 
acted, in good faith in the performance or intended performance of any duty or in the exercise or intended exercise 
of any power or authority granted to such Joint Governance Committee/Board member and the Joint Governance 
Committee/Board as a whole hereunder.


11. Authority of the Joint Governance Committee/Board


A decision of the Joint Governance Committee/Board made in accordance with this Schedule with respect to any 
matter within the limits of its authority and jurisdiction shall be binding upon all of the participating Parties to the 
respective Fire Department.


12. Unanimous Approval







© Brownlee LLP 17 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


The following matters shall require unanimous approval by all members of the Joint Governance Committee/Board 
entitled to vote at any meeting called to consider such matters, which approval shall be exercised in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement:


(a) approval of each respective Fire Department budget, and corresponding requisitions from the 
participating Parties;


(b) the addition or deletion of a Party to the respective Fire Department operations;


(c) ______________________________________________________________; and


(d) ______________________________________________________________.


13. Referral to Dispute Resolution


If at any meeting of the Joint Governance Committee/Board, any matter is considered and the matter is neither 
approved nor adjourned for further consideration, in either case by all of the members of the Joint Governance 
Committee/Board entitled to vote at such meeting, then notwithstanding any intermediate acts or negotiations any 
Party shall be entitled to refer the dispute, and to the extent that it is necessary or reasonable in all of the 
circumstances, any related question or dispute, to be resolved pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure.


14. Remuneration of Committee Representatives


Each Party shall reimburse its appointed members in accordance with its own practices and policies. 







© Brownlee LLP 18 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “C”


JOINT EMERGENCY SERVICES COMMITTEE


1. Joint Emergency Services Committee


The Joint Emergency Services Committee shall be made up of:


(a) the Chief Administrative Officers of each of the Parties; 


(b) the Fire Chiefs; and


(c) Joint Fire Coordinator; 


for the purposes of carrying out the responsibilities contemplated within Article 5 and Section 7.2 of this Agreement 
and this Schedule.


2. Joint Emergency Services Committee and Chair of the Joint Emergency Services Committee


The Parties hereby establish the Joint Emergency Services Committee to manage the strategic direction and general 
operating policies of the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs.  The power and authority of the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee shall be subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  Their role shall be 
to make decisions and to give approvals in connection with the on-going strategic direction, general operating 
policies, and budgeting of the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs. Unless otherwise unanimously agreed 
to by the Parties, the Chair of the Joint Emergency Services Committee shall rotate on an annual basis between each 
of the Parties. The Chair for the first year will be a representative elected the members of the Joint Emergency 
Services Committee, and thereafter the Chair shall rotate through the representatives of the Parties in an order 
agreed upon by the Joint Emergency Services Committee.


3. Representatives


Each representative will have the authority to make decisions on behalf of their respective organization.  The Parties 
may each appoint alternate representatives to act on the Joint Emergency Services Committee in substitution for 
their appointed representative. Each of the Parties may at any time and from time to time by written notice replace 
its representative appointed by it, and any representative so replaced shall cease to be a Joint Emergency Services 
Committee member upon the giving of such notice.  Copies of written notices shall be given to the other Parties, the 
individual so appointed as a new Joint Emergency Services Committee member, and the Joint Emergency Services 
Committee member who has been replaced.


4. Vacancies


A vacancy in the Joint Emergency Services Committee shall be filled by the Party who appointed the former 
representative whose loss created the vacancy.  If there is a vacancy in the Joint Emergency Services Committee, the 
remaining representatives may continue to exercise the powers of the Joint Emergency Services Committee in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.


5. Action by the Joint Emergency Services Committee


Subject to paragraph 11 of this Schedule, the powers of the Joint Emergency Services Committee may be exercised 
by resolution at a meeting of its Joint Emergency Services Committee members at which a quorum is present. 
Quorum of the Joint Emergency Services Committee shall be satisfied where Seven (7) members  of the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee are present, and each of the Parties are represented.







© Brownlee LLP 19 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


6. Attendance at Meetings


The Joint Emergency Services Committee members, but not an individual Joint Emergency Services Committee 
member, may decide to invite the general public, special interest group(s), or other private or public bodies and 
agencies to attend any meeting of the Joint Emergency Services Committee and/or make submissions to the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee with respect to any matter or question being considered by it. The Joint Emergency 
Services Committee shall meet at least Two (2) times a year, or more as the Joint Emergency Services Committee 
determines.  Notice of the time, place, and agenda of every meeting shall be given by the Chair with not less than 
Thirty (30) days notice.


7. Voting Rights


At any meeting of the Joint Emergency Services Committee, each member shall be entitled to vote on each question 
submitted to the Joint Emergency Services Committee for decision and each such member shall have one vote. 


8. Records


The Joint Emergency Services Committee shall arrange for proper written records, and minute taking of all meetings 
and decisions of the Joint Emergency Services Committee to be kept and maintained and copies of same shall be 
sent to each member and the Parties within Fifteen (15) business days following each meeting of the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee. Each Joint Emergency Services Committee member shall be entitled to reasonable 
access to all files and records of the Joint Emergency Services Committee at all reasonable times and shall be given 
the opportunity to make copies thereof from time to time. 


All records of the Joint Emergency Services Committee will be retained at the offices of the Joint Fire Coordinator.


9. Limitation of Liability


No Joint Emergency Services Committee member shall be liable for the acts, neglect or default of such Joint 
Emergency Services Committee member, any other Joint Emergency Services Committee member, and/or the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee as a whole, provided that such Joint Emergency Services Committee member has 
acted, in good faith in the performance or intended performance of any duty or in the exercise or intended exercise 
of any power or authority granted to such Joint Emergency Services Committee member and the Joint Emergency 
Services Committee as a whole hereunder.


10. Authority of the Joint Emergency Services Committee


A decision of the Joint Emergency Services Committee made in accordance with this Agreement with respect to any 
matter within the limits of its authority and jurisdiction shall be binding upon all of the Parties.


11. Unanimous Approval


The following matters shall require unanimous approval by all members of the Joint Emergency Services Committee 
entitled to vote at any meeting called to consider such matters, which approval shall be exercised in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement:


(a) the Joint Fire Operations Budget for the first (1st) Fiscal Year, including any proposed 
amendments thereto;


(b) the Joint Fire Operations Budget for any subsequent Fiscal Year, including any proposed 
amendments thereto;







© Brownlee LLP 20 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(c) the disposition of property or discontinuance of any Joint Fire Program during any Fiscal Year;


(d) the additions to and/or replacement of any Joint Fire Program; and


(e) the contracting or termination of any contractor by the Parties or the Joint Fire Coordinator; and


(f) ______________________________________________________________.


12. Referral to Dispute Resolution


If at any meeting of the Joint Emergency Services Committee, any matter is considered and the matter is neither 
approved nor adjourned for further consideration, in either case by all of the members of the Joint Emergency 
Services Committee entitled to vote at such meeting, then notwithstanding any intermediate acts or negotiations any 
Party shall be entitled to refer the dispute, and to the extent that it is necessary or reasonable in all of the 
circumstances, any related question or dispute, to be resolved pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure.


13. Remuneration of Committee Representatives


Each Party shall reimburse its appointed members in accordance with its own practices and policies. 







© Brownlee LLP 21 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “D”


FIRE CHIEFS COMMITTEE


1. Fire Chiefs Committee


The Fire Chiefs Committee shall consist of Six (6) individuals made up of:


(a) the Fire Chiefs for each of the Parties; and


(b) the Joint Fire Coordinator;


for the purposes of carrying out the responsibilities contemplated within Article 6 and Section 6.2 of this Agreement 
and this Schedule.


2. Fire Chiefs Committee and Chair of the Fire Chiefs Committee


The Parties hereby establish the Fire Chiefs Committee to manage the implementation and operation of the Joint 
Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs.  The power and authority of the Fire Chiefs Committee shall be subject to 
the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  Their role shall be to make decisions and to give approvals in 
connection with the on-going operation of the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs. Unless otherwise 
unanimously agreed to by the Parties, the Chair of the Fire Chiefs Committee shall rotate on an annual basis 
between each of the Parties. The Chair for the first year will be a representative elected the members of the Fire 
Chiefs Committee, and thereafter the Chair shall rotate through the representatives of the Parties in an order agreed 
upon by the Fire Chiefs Committee.


3. Representatives


Each representative will have the authority to make decisions on behalf of their respective organization.  The Parties 
may each appoint alternate representatives to act on the Fire Chiefs Committee in substitution for their appointed 
representative. Each of the Parties may at any time and from time to time by written notice replace its representative 
appointed by it, and any representative so replaced shall cease to be a Fire Chiefs Committee member upon the 
giving of such notice.  Copies of written notices shall be given to the other Parties, the individual so appointed as a 
new Fire Chiefs Committee member, and the Fire Chiefs Committee member who has been replaced.


4. Vacancies


A vacancy in the Fire Chiefs Committee shall be filled by the Party who appointed the former representative whose 
loss created the vacancy.  If there is a vacancy in the Fire Chiefs Committee, the remaining representatives may 
continue to exercise the powers of the Fire Chiefs Committee in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.


5. Action by the Fire Chiefs Committee


Subject to paragraph 11 of this Schedule, the powers of the Fire Chiefs Committee may be exercised by resolution at 
a meeting of its Fire Chiefs Committee members at which a Quorum is present. Quorum for meetings of the Fire 
Chiefs Committee shall be satisfied where all members of the Fire Chiefs Committee are present.


6. Attendance at Meetings


The Fire Chiefs Committee members, but not an individual Fire Chiefs Committee member, may decide to invite the 
general public, special interest group(s), or other private or public bodies and agencies to attend any meeting of the 
Fire Chiefs Committee and/or make submissions to the Fire Chiefs Committee with respect to any matter or question 
being considered by it. The Fire Chiefs Committee shall meet at least Four (4) times a year, or more as the Fire 







© Brownlee LLP 22 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


Chiefs Committee determines.  Notice of the time, place, and agenda of every meeting shall be given by the Chair 
with not less than Thirty (30) days notice.


7. Voting Rights


At any meeting of the Fire Chiefs Committee, each member shall be entitled to vote on each question submitted to 
the Fire Chiefs Committee for decision and each such member shall have one vote. 


8. Records


The Fire Chiefs Committee shall arrange for proper written records, and minute taking of all meetings and decisions 
of the Fire Chiefs Committee to be kept and maintained and copies of same shall be sent to each member and the 
Parties within Fifteen (15) business days following each meeting of the Fire Chiefs Committee. Each Fire Chiefs 
Committee member shall be entitled to reasonable access to all files and records of the Fire Chiefs Committee at all 
reasonable times and shall be given the opportunity to make copies thereof from time to time. 


All records of the Fire Chiefs Committee will be retained at the offices of the Joint Fire Coordinator.


9. Limitation of Liability


No Fire Chiefs Committee member shall be liable for the acts, neglect or default of such Fire Chiefs Committee 
member, any other Fire Chiefs Committee member, and/or the Fire Chiefs Committee as a whole, provided that such 
Fire Chiefs Committee member has acted, in good faith in the performance or intended performance of any duty or 
in the exercise or intended exercise of any power or authority granted to such Fire Chiefs Committee member and 
the Fire Chiefs Committee as a whole hereunder.


10. Authority of the Fire Chiefs Committee


A decision of the Fire Chiefs Committee made in accordance with this Agreement with respect to any matter within 
the limits of its authority and jurisdiction shall be binding upon all of the Parties.


11. Unanimous Approval


The following matters shall require unanimous approval by all members of the Fire Chiefs Committee entitled to 
vote at any meeting called to consider such matters, which approval shall be exercised in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement:


(a) the SOG’s applicable to the performance of all or any portion of the Joint Fire Services;


(b) the creation, amendment, or replacement of any Rates applicable to Mutual Aid Services;


(c) the creation, amendment, or replacement of any additional Standards applicable to Mutual Aid 
Services or Joint Fire Services;


(d) _________________________________________________________________________; and


(e) ______________________________________________________________.


12. Referral to Dispute Resolution


If at any meeting of the Fire Chiefs Committee, any matter is considered and the matter is neither approved nor 
adjourned for further consideration, in either case by all of the members of the Fire Chiefs Committee entitled to 
vote at such meeting, then notwithstanding any intermediate acts or negotiations any Party shall be entitled to refer 







© Brownlee LLP 23 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


the dispute, and to the extent that it is necessary or reasonable in all of the circumstances, any related question or 
dispute, to be reviewed and resolved by the Joint Emergency Services Committee.


13. Remuneration of Committee Representatives


Each Party shall reimburse its appointed members in accordance with its own practices and policies. 







© Brownlee LLP 24 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “E”


MUTUAL AID SERVICES


Throughout the Term of this Agreement each of the Parties shall provide the following Mutual Aid Services:


1. Nature of Emergency – each Party may call upon the assistance of all or any of the other Parties to render 
assistance that, in the opinion of the Requesting Party, is necessary for the prompt and safe handling of an 
Emergency;


2. Nature of Mutual Aid Services and Obligation to Assist – upon receipt of a request for Mutual Aid 
Services, each Party will render whatever assistance that it can without endangering the wellbeing of its 
own residents;


3. Contact Persons to be Appointed – each Party shall designate one or more contact persons, who shall 
coordinate Mutual Aid Services, and administer the provisions of this Agreement respecting Mutual Aid 
Services, on its behalf. Each Party to this agreement will designate a specific request for aid format to 
activate this Agreement;


4. Requesting Party to Assume Direction – unless otherwise provided for within the SOG’s:


(a) each Responding Party shall utilize all responding personnel and equipment in accordance with its 
own Emergency response plans; 


(b) the Responding Party’s personnel and equipment shall follow directions of the Requesting Party’s 
Incident Commander, save and except in the event that the personnel or equipment shall be 
endangered beyond acceptable limits;


5. All Costs to be Charged to Requesting Party – the Requesting Party requesting Mutual Aid Services 
hereby accepts financial responsibility for all services rendered and rental of all equipment's requests. The 
billing/accounting officer for each Party will maintain a registry of services and equipment usage during the 
time of assistance;


6. Equipment and Personnel Rates – all equipment and personnel used for providing Mutual Aid Services 
shall be billed by the Responding Party to the Requesting Party at the Rates established from time to time 
under this Agreement;


7. Equipment and Personnel – only equipment owned solely by the Responding Party, or volunteered 
equipment, shall be used in providing Mutual Aid Services. In addition to the employees of a Responding 
Party, those who have voluntarily offered their services to any Responding Party may be utilized in 
providing Mutual Aid Services;


8. Volunteer Equipment and Personnel to be Accepted by Requesting Party – all volunteer equipment 
and volunteer personnel proposed to be made available and utilized by any Party in providing Mutual Aid 
Services shall first complete a standard volunteer agreement form at the offices of the Responding Party. 
The form shall be faxed or e-mailed to the Mutual Aid Contact for the Requesting Party for acceptance of 
terms and conditions of equipment rental and personnel costs, prior to the Responding Party utilizing the 
volunteer equipment and volunteer personnel in providing Mutual Aid Services; and


9. Performance & Preparedness – each of the Parties shall faithfully carry out and perform Mutual Aid 
Services to be best of the Responding Party’s abilities and resources, and shall further maintain a state of 







© Brownlee LLP 25 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


preparedness adequate to meet any Emergency situation that may arise, all as may be more particularly set 
forth within the SOG’s or this Agreement.







© Brownlee LLP 26 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “F”


JOINT FIRE SERVICES & JOINT FIRE PROGRAMS


1. Services


Subject to the direction of the Joint Fire Services Committee, or otherwise agreed upon by the Parties, Joint Fire 
Services shall consist of the following:


(a) Fire Inspection Service


(i) Nature of Service – ______________________________________________________;


(ii) Key Personnel – _________________________________________________________;


(iii) Availability – ___________________________________________________________;


(iv) Cost – _________________________________________________________________;


(v) Etc. – __________________________________________________________________.


(b) Fire Investigations Service


(i) Nature of Service – ______________________________________________________;


(ii) Key Personnel – _________________________________________________________;


(iii) Availability – ___________________________________________________________;


(iv) Cost – _________________________________________________________________;


(v) Etc. – __________________________________________________________________.


(c) Other (e.g. inter-Fire Department response/coverage areas, etc.)


(i) Nature of Service – ______________________________________________________;


(ii) Key Personnel – _________________________________________________________;


(iii) Availability – ___________________________________________________________;


(iv) Cost – _________________________________________________________________;


(v) Etc. – __________________________________________________________________.


2. Programs


Throughout the Term of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties or directed by the Joint 
Governance Committee/Board and the Joint Emergency Services Committee, the Parties shall create, plan, 
implement and operate the following joint programs for the mutual benefit of the Parties:


(a) Standard Operating Guidelines (SOG’s) Program – the consultation, design, approval, periodic 
review, and amendment from time to time of SOG’s to be followed and implemented by the Fire 
Departments, providing for a clear standard of performance, standard operating procedures, 







© Brownlee LLP 27 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


incident command structure and protocols, standard communications protocols, and any other 
relevant operational requirements for the purposes of:


(i) performing any of the Services contemplated under this Agreement within another 
Party’s jurisdiction, providing the Services within another Party’s jurisdiction; and


(ii) operation of each Party’s own respective Fire Departments within their respective 
jurisdictions, providing for best practices and other resources;


(b) Training Program – the consultation, design, approval, periodic review, and amendment from 
time to time of joint training programs for personnel utilized by the Parties’ respective Fire 
Departments, providing for a standard of training, expertise, experience, knowledge, proficiency 
and capability determined by the Parties to be necessary or valuable for the purposes of:


(i) performing any of the Services contemplated under this Agreement within another 
Party’s jurisdiction; and


(ii) operations of each Party’s own respective Fire Departments within their respective 
jurisdictions;


(iii) [training to a specified standard – e.g. NFPA, 1001, etc.];


(iv) [evolution and development to meet a specified standard – e.g. over a term of years, 
pursuant to the training/qualification plan, etc.];


(v) [key personnel, and the role of our Emergency Services Manager and his designate] 


(vi) [other];


(c) Recruitment, Retention and Human Resources Program – the consultation, design, approval, 
periodic review, and amendment from time to time of policies, procedures, standards and 
documents for recruitment, retention, and human resource management of personnel for the Fire 
Departments;


(d) Equipment Evaluation Program – the consultation, review, testing, from time to time of SOG 
each Party shall designate one or more contact persons, who shall coordinate Mutual Aid Services, 
and administer the provisions of this Agreement respecting Mutual Aid Services, on its behalf. 
Each Party to this Agreement will designate a specific request for aid format to activate this 
Agreement;


(e) Procurements Program – the consultation, design, approval, implementation and completion of 
joint procurements of equipment on an as needed basis by the Parties, for the purposes of 
maximizing efficiency of procurement processes as well as cost savings for the Parties;


(f) Fire Investigations Program – the consultation, design, approval, implementation and operation 
of a fire investigations service available on an as needed basis by the Parties; and


(g) Other Programs – such further and other programs jointly created, designed, planned, 
implemented and/or operated by the Parties from time to time, subject always to approval of the 
Joint Emergency Services Committee and inclusion within the Joint Fire Operations Budget.







© Brownlee LLP 28 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “G”


JOINT FIRE OPERATIONS BUDGET & PAYMENTS


1. Budgets and Reports


In connection with its obligations to coordinate and manage the Fire Departments, as well as the Joint Fire Services 
and the Joint Fire Programs, the Joint Fire Coordinator shall:


(a) Initial Budget – immediately upon execution of this Agreement prepare and within Forty Five 
(45) days deliver to the Joint Emergency Services Committee for its approval, a Joint Fire 
Operations Budget for the balance of the current Fiscal Year on a monthly basis, which shall set 
forth anticipated expenses;


(b) Long-Range Plan – within Three Hundred (300) days from the date of this Agreement, prepare 
and provide to the Joint Emergency Services Committee, for its approval, a long-range 
management plan, providing for a Three (3) year budget and planning horizon and setting forth 
current status of the Fire Departments, the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs, and 
intended goals and milestones for the development and/or evolution of the Fire Departments, the 
Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs;


(c) Annual Budgets – not later than October 1 of each Fiscal Year, prepare and submit to the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee, for its approval, a Joint Fire Operations Budget including, 
without restriction, providing for the following:


(i) consumables;


(ii) personal protective equipment;


(iii) training and instruction; 


(iv) capital acquisitions; and


(v) salaries and wages;


(d) Interim Reports – prepare and provide to the Joint Emergency Services Committee and the 
Parties, all interim reports as may be required and agreed upon by the Joint Emergency Services 
Committee in order to diligently track the actual operating expenditures and capital expenditures 
and compare these expenditures to the Joint Fire Operations Budget; 


(e) Annual Reports – within Ninety (90) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, will provide all 
reports as may be required and agreed upon by the Joint Emergency Services Committee in order 
to report on the actual operating expenditures and capital expenditures for the prior Fiscal Year 
and compare these expenditures to the Joint Fire Operations Budget;


(f) Books of Account; Information –at all times maintain at its office, or at such other location as 
may be approved by the Joint Emergency Services Committee, reasonable books of account and 
records with respect to the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs, and all transactions 
entered into in performance of this Agreement.  Each Party may at reasonable times, upon 
reasonable notice, and at reasonable intervals, request and obtain information with respect to the 
Fire Departments, the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs and review the books and 







© Brownlee LLP 29 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


records maintained by the Joint Fire Coordinator pursuant to this Agreement and relating to the 
Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs;


(g) Method of Keeping Accounts –maintain (in accordance with instructions given by the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee, from time to time, as to the manner in which the same shall be 
maintained) accounts with respect to matters arising under this Agreement, in order for the Joint 
Emergency Services Committee to readily extract financial statements pertaining to the Joint Fire 
Services and the Joint Fire Programs in the form required by it.


2. Proportionate Shares 


In respect of the Fire Departments, the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs provided to or participated in 
by the Parties, unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties the following Proportionate Shares of the following costs 
shall apply to each of the Parties:


(a) Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs – in respect of the Cardston County Emergency Services, 
the Proportionate Shares shall be as follows:


(i) Joint Fire Coordinator Costs – in respect of the Joint Fire Coordinator Costs, the 
Proportionate Shares shall be as follows:


(A) Cardston County – 30%;


(B) Town of Cardston – 30%;


(C) Town of Magrath – 30%;


(D) Village of Glenwood – 5%;


(E) Village of Hill Spring  – 5%;


(ii) Remainder – in respect of the remainder of Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs, as 
may be established and agreed upon by the Joint Emergency Services Committee from 
time to time.


(b) Fire Department Costs – in respect of the costs of the respective Fire Departments:


(i) Costs of Cardston County Emergency Services – in respect of the Cardston County 
Emergency Services, the Proportionate Shares shall be as follows:


(A) Cardston County – 46.5%;


(B) Town of Cardston – 46.5%;


(C) Village of Glenwood – 4%;


(D) Village of Hill Spring  – 3%;


(ii) Costs of Magrath and District Emergency Services – in respect of the Magrath and 
District Emergency Services, the Proportionate Shares shall be as follows:


(A) Cardston County – 50%;







© Brownlee LLP 30 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(B) Town of Magrath – 50%.


3. Billing and Cost Recovery


Notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject always to the direction of the Joint Governance Committee/Board or the 
Joint Emergency Services Committee, costs of certain Joint Fire Services may be recovered by directly billing the 
Parties and/or property owners and/or the persons responsible for causing the requirement for the Joint Fire Services, 
in accordance with the Parties’ applicable bylaws or policies establishing rates for such services. Revenue received 
from such direct billing will be accounted for within the Joint Fire Operations Budget and related processes 
contemplated within this Schedule.


4. Estimate and Payment


Within Thirty (30) days of the approval of the Joint Fire Operations Budget and in any event within Sixty (60) days 
of the commencement of each Fiscal Year, the Joint Fire Coordinator shall advise the Parties in writing of its 
estimate of the Proportionate Share of the Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs payable by each of the Parties 
during the then current Fiscal Year or remaining portion thereof.  Such estimate shall be a reasonable estimate and 
based upon either the approved Joint Fire Operations Budget, or otherwise wherever possible upon previous 
operating expenses.  Each Party’s Proportionate Share of the Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs shall be paid:


(a) in equal monthly installments in advance on the first day of each and every month during the 
applicable Fiscal Year; or


(b) in lump sum amounts


based on the Joint Fire Coordinator's estimate.  


From time to time the Joint Fire Coordinator, subject to approval of the Joint Emergency Services Committee, may 
re-estimate, on a reasonable basis, the amount of Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs for any Fiscal Year or 
portion thereof.  All adjustments will then be used to recalculate new payment amounts for the remainder of the 
Fiscal Year.


5. Payment of Costs, Changes and Overruns


The Joint Fire Coordinator shall be responsible for, and is authorized to make payment of:


(a) Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs – all Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs to the 
corresponding  party as provided for within the Joint Fire Operations Budget, or subsequently 
approved by the ______________________; and


(b) Fire Department Costs – all operating costs of the respective Fire Departments as provided for 
within the respective Fire Department’s operating budget, or subsequently approved by:


(i) the CCES Committee/Board in respect of any costs of the Cardston County Emergency 
Services; and


(ii) the Magrath Fire Committee/Board in respect of any costs of the Magrath and District 
County Emergency Services.


6. Accounting and Adjustment


Within Ninety (90) days after the end of each Fiscal Year or portion thereof (or with respect to any component of 
Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs or revenues which cannot be computed within such Ninety (90) day period, 







© Brownlee LLP 31 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


within Thirty (30) days after the Joint Fire Coordinator has received the information necessary to compute such 
component of the Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs, or revenues), the Joint Fire Coordinator shall submit to the 
Parties a detailed statement of the actual Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs payable, and revenues receivable, in 
respect of such Fiscal Year or portion thereof and a calculation of that amount, by which the actual Joint Fire 
Services & Programs Costs paid by the Parties exceeds or falls short of the actual Proportionate Share of Joint Fire 
Services & Programs Costs payable by the Parties for such Fiscal Year after accounting for all actual costs and 
revenues.


7. Payment of Adjustment


Concurrently with the delivery of the accounting and calculation provided for above, the Joint Fire Coordinator shall 
provide to the Parties an invoice, in the case of an amount payable by the Parties, or a statement of credit, in the case 
of overpayment by the Parties.  The Parties shall pay the Joint Fire Coordinator in full, the invoiced amount within 
Sixty (60) days of invoice date.  The Joint Fire Coordinator shall credit to the Parties, on account of the 
Proportionate Share of Joint Fire Services & Programs Costs payable by the Parties during the next Fiscal Year, an 
amount equal to the credit due upon any such statement of credit issued by the Joint Fire Coordinator.  


8. Access to Information


Each Party will share information as may be relevant from time to time, or as may be reasonably required by the 
Parties subject to the application privacy legislation.  The Joint Fire Coordinator will maintain records of all costs 
and revenues relating to the operation and management of the Joint Fire Services and the Joint Fire Programs.







© Brownlee LLP 32 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “H”


INSURANCE, INDEMNITY & DEFAULT


1. Insurance


Throughout the Term of this Agreement:


(a) The owner of each piece of equipment used in providing any Joint Fire Services or Joint Fire 
Programs will maintain in respect of the equipment:


(i) comprehensive general liability insurance in an amount not less than 
$________________ per occurrence, or such greater amount as the Parties may 
reasonably agree to from time to time; and


(ii) property insurance on a replacement costs basis for the equipment;


(b) Each Party will maintain at its own cost:


(i) commercial general liability insurance in an amount not less than $__________________ 
per occurrence, or such greater amount as the Parties may reasonably agree from time to 
time, covering the use and operation of their respective Fire Departments; and


(ii) worker’s compensation coverage in respect of each and every employee engaged in the 
operation of the respective Party’s Fire Department, in accordance with all applicable 
statutes and regulations;


together with such other insurance as the Parties may consider necessary or prudent, or as may be required 
by the Joint Emergency Services Committee from time to time.


2. Certificates


Each Party acknowledges and agrees that it shall provide to the other Parties proof of insurance, upon being 
requested to do so in writing.


3. Indemnity


Each Party shall indemnify and save harmless the other Parties and their board members, trustees, councilors 
officers, employees, agents, volunteers and invitees, to the extent permitted by law, of and from any and all 
liabilities, damage costs, expenses (including legal fees and disbursements) claims, suits and actions arising out of 
the following:


(a) any breach, violation or non-performance of any term or condition in this Agreement on the part 
of the indemnifying Party to be fulfilled, observed and performed;


(b) death or injury to any person or damage or destruction of any property resulting from the 
negligence of the indemnifying Party, its trustees, councilors, officers, employees, agents, 
licensees, contractors or any other person for whom that Party is legally responsible.


This indemnity shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement.


4. Limitation of Liability


Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Party shall be responsible for any of the foregoing damages or claims to the 
extent:







© Brownlee LLP 33 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(a) caused by or contributed to any default on the part of the indemnified Party under this Agreement, 
or the negligent acts or omissions of indemnified Party, its trustees, councilors, officers, 
employees, agents, licensees, contractors or any other person for whom that Party is legally 
responsible; or


(b) comprising any indirect, consequential or punitive damages, including loss of profits or revenues 
or other similar damages.


5. Default


A Party shall be deemed to be in default under this Agreement  if any of the following events occur (each of the 
following events to be referred to in this Schedule as an “Event of Default”, the Party in default to be referred to as the 
“Defaulting Party” and the Party or Parties not in default to be referred to as the “Non-defaulting Party”):


(a) a Party fails to make a payment as required by any provision of this Agreement including failure to 
pay an indemnity amount required to be paid pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (a “Payment 
Default”); 


(b) a Party fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement (which, for greater certainty, shall 
not include obligations resulting in a Payment Default if not performed) (each such event being a 
“Performance Default”); or 


(c) a Party experiences any of the following events (an “Insolvency Default”):


(i) the Party institutes voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up procedures;


(ii) the Party takes any voluntary proceedings under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation to 
be adjudicated as bankrupt or for any other relief;


(iii) the Party makes a compromise with or an assignment for the benefit of creditors;


(iv) a receiver is appointed with regard to the Party or to any material part of the Party’s property;


(v) a court adjudges the Party to be bankrupt or makes an order requiring the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Party; or


(vi) if the corporate existence of the Party is otherwise terminated.


6. Notices and Cure Periods


In the event that a Party claims that there has been a Payment Default or Performance Default committed by or affecting 
the other Party, the Party making the claim shall give to the Party alleged to be in default a notice (hereinafter referred to 
as the “Notice of Default”).  In this regard:


(a) the Notice of Default shall specify and provide particulars of the alleged Event of Default.;


(b) in the event the alleged Event of Default is capable of being remedied, the Party alleged to be in 
default shall:


(i) have no cure period in respect of an Insolvency Default,


(ii) have a cure period of ten (10) days after receipt of the Notice of Default with respect to a 
Payment Default,







© Brownlee LLP 34 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


(iii) subject to subparagraph (b)(iv) and (c) below, have a cure period of Thirty (30) days after 
receipt of the Notice of Default with respect to a Performance Default, or


(iv) if a Performance Default is such that it cannot be reasonably remedied within Thirty (30) 
days after receipt of the Notice of Default, have a reasonable period of time to cure the 
Performance Default provided that the Defaulting Party promptly commences and diligently 
continues thereafter to remedy the Event of Default;


(c) if before the expiry of the later of the cure period (if any) referred to in subparagraph (b) above, or the 
time to cure specified in the Notice of Default, the Defaulting Party cures the Event of Default, the 
Default Notice shall be inoperative and the Defaulting Party shall lose no rights hereunder.


7. Payment Default


In the case of a Payment Default (including a Payment Default that is a failure to pay upon the occurrence of an 
Insolvency Default), the Non-defaulting Parties shall have the following rights and remedies:


(a) to charge the Defaulting Party Interest with respect to the unpaid amount until it is paid, calculated 
daily, regardless of whether the Non-defaulting Party has notified the Defaulting Party in advance of 
its intention to charge Interest with respect to the unpaid amount and/or;


(b) to set-off against the unpaid amount any sums due or accruing to the Defaulting Party by the Non-
defaulting Parties in accordance with this Agreement and/or;


(c) to maintain an action or actions for the unpaid amount and Interest thereon on a continuing basis as the 
amounts become payable but are not paid by the Defaulting Party, as if the obligation to pay those 
amounts and the Interest thereon was a liquidated demand due and payable on the date the amounts 
were due to be paid, without any right or resort of the Defaulting Party to set-off or counter-claim; 
and/or


(d) to terminate this Agreement;


and any obligation to pay Interest under this Paragraph shall apply until the Payment Default is rectified or remedied and 
shall not merge into a judgment for principal and interest, or either of them.


8. Performance Default


In the case of a Performance Default:


(a) the Non-defaulting Parties shall have the right to suspend entitlement to the benefits under this 
Agreement, including the right to suspend any payment owing pursuant to this Agreement; or


 
(b) the Non-defaulting Parties may but shall not be obligated to, either directly or indirectly by engaging a 


third party or otherwise, as the case may be, do all such things in order to rectify such Event of Default 
at the sole cost and expense of the Defaulting Party; or 


(c) the Non-defaulting Parties shall have the right to terminate this Agreement.


9. Insolvency Default


In the case of an Insolvency Default, the Non-defaulting Parties shall have the right to:


(a) suspend performance of its obligations under this Agreement; or


(b) terminate this Agreement.







© Brownlee LLP 35 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


10. Remedies Cumulative


A Non-defaulting Parties may, at its or their discretion, exercise the remedies referenced within this Schedule in the 
alternative, concurrently or cumulatively, except where inconsistent with the express provisions contained in this 
Agreement and provided that in the case of a Payment Default the concurrent or cumulative exercise of remedies shall 
not result in duplication or a recovery on the part of the Non-defaulting Parties based on an amount (excluding Interest) 
in excess of the Payment Default.  No delay or omission by a Non-defaulting Parties in exercising its rights or remedies 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver of those rights or remedies or of any other right or remedy and no single or partial 
exercise thereof shall preclude any other or future exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy.


11. Force Majeure


Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, whenever and to the extent that any Party shall be unable to perform, or shall be 
delayed or restricted in the full performance of, any obligation within this Agreement (other than any financial or 
payment obligation under this Agreement) by reason of an event of Force Majeure, such Party shall, so long as any 
such impediment exists, be relieved from the performance of such obligation to the extent restricted or prevented by 
that event of Force Majeure, and the other Party shall not be entitled to compensation for any damage, inconvenience, 
nuisance or discomfort caused by such delayed or restricted performance.  Provided always that such relief shall in any 
event be limited to a maximum period of one hundred and eighty (180) days.  In the event that any of the Parties are 
impacted by an event of Force Majeure the Parties agree to meet within ninety (90) days to determine remedies 
required.  







© Brownlee LLP 36 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


SCHEDULE “I”


DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE


1. Definitions - In this Schedule, the following words and phrases have the following meanings:


(a) “Arbitrator” means the person appointed to act as such to resolve any Dispute;


(b) “Arbitration” means a process whereby each of the Parties, with or without legal counsel, agrees 
to jointly engage and meet with an Arbitrator who will render a binding decision in respect of any 
Disputes;


(c) “Dispute” means any disagreement or controversy between the Parties concerning any matter 
arising out of this Agreement;


(d) “Disclosed Information” means the information disclosed by a Party for the purpose of 
settlement, negotiation, Mediation or Arbitration;


(e) “Mediation” means a process whereby a Representative of each Party, with or without legal 
counsel, agrees to jointly engage the services and meet with a Mediator to participate in a 
mediation, conciliation or similar dispute resolution process;


(f) “Mediator” means the person appointed to facilitate the resolution of a Dispute between the 
Parties;


(g) “Party” means a party to the Agreement to which this Dispute Resolution Procedure is attached, 
and “Parties” means more than one of them; 


(h) “Senior Officials” of the Parties involved in the Dispute shall consist of the chief administrative 
officer, Fire Chief (if applicable), and the reeve or mayor, as the case may be, for each Party to the 
Dispute; and


(i) “Representative” means an individual who has no direct operational responsibility for the matters 
comprising the Dispute who holds a senior position with a Party and who has full authority to 
settle a Dispute.


2. Dispute Process - In the event of any Dispute, the Parties agree that prior to commencing litigation, they 
shall undertake a process to promote the resolution of a Dispute in the following order:


(a) first, by negotiation;


(b) second, by way of elevation of the Dispute to the Senior Officials of the Parties involved in the 
Dispute; 


(c) third, by way of Mediation; and


(d) fourth, by arbitration, if mutually agreed to in writing at the time of the Dispute, by the Parties.


Negotiation, Mediation or Arbitration shall refer to, take into account, and apply the intentions and 
principles stated by the Parties within the Agreement to which this Schedule is attached.


3. Negotiation - A Party shall give written notice (“Dispute Notice”) to the other Party of a Dispute and 
outline in reasonable detail the relevant information concerning the Dispute.  Within seven (7) days 
following receipt of the Dispute Notice, the Parties shall each appoint a Representative, who shall meet and 







© Brownlee LLP 37 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


attempt to resolve the Dispute through discussion and negotiation.  If the Dispute is not resolved within 
thirty (30) days of receipt of the Dispute Notice, the negotiation shall be deemed to have failed.


4. Elevation - If the Representatives cannot resolve the Dispute within such thirty (30) day period, then the 
Dispute shall be elevated and referred to the Senior Officials of the Parties involved in the Dispute.  Within 
seven (7) days the determination that Negotiation has failed to resolve the Dispute, the Parties shall each 
appoint the Senior Officials of each of the Parties, who shall meet and attempt to resolve the Dispute 
through discussion and negotiation.  If the Dispute is not resolved within thirty (30) days of the 
determination that Negotiation has failed to resolve the Dispute, the elevation to Senior Officials shall be 
deemed to have failed.


5. Mediation - If the Senior Officials cannot resolve the Dispute within such thirty (30) day period, then the 
Dispute shall be referred to Mediation.  Any one of the Parties shall provide the other Party with written 
notice (“Mediation Notice”) specifying the subject matters remaining in Dispute, and the details of the 
matters in Dispute that are to be mediated.  If the Mediation is not completed within sixty (60) days from 
the date of receipt of the Dispute Notice, the Dispute shall be deemed to have terminated and failed to be 
resolved by Mediation.


6. Arbitration 


(a) If the Mediation fails to resolve the Dispute and if both Parties so agree in writing, at the time of 
the dispute, the Dispute shall be submitted to binding Arbitration.  One of the Parties may provide 
the other Party with written notice (“Arbitration Notice”) specifying the subject matters remaining 
in Dispute and the details of the matters in Dispute that are to be arbitrated.  If the other Party 
agrees to proceed to Arbitration, such Dispute shall proceed to Arbitration.  A failure to respond to 
the Arbitration Notice shall be deemed to constitute a refusal to proceed with Arbitration;


(b) The Arbitrator shall conduct the Arbitration in accordance with the commercial arbitration rules 
(the “Rules”) established from time to time by the ADR Institute of Canada Inc., unless the Parties 
agree to modify the same pursuant to any arbitration agreement. The Arbitration Act (Alberta) 
shall apply to all Arbitrations but if there is a conflict between the Rules and the provisions of the 
Act, the Rules shall prevail.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such Arbitration shall be 
conducted in the English language;


(c) The Arbitrator shall proceed to hear and render a written decision concerning any Dispute within:


(i) forty-five (45) days, if the subject matter of the Dispute is less than $50,000.00; or


(ii) one hundred and twenty (120) days, if the subject matter of the Dispute is greater than 
$50,000.00.


(d) The Arbitrator has the right to award solicitor-client costs against the unsuccessful Party and to 
award interest but does not have the right to award punitive, consequential or other exemplary 
damages.


(e) The Arbitrator’s decision is final and binding but is subject to appeal or review by any court of 
proper jurisdiction only with respect to an allegation of fraud.


7. Participation - The Parties and their Representatives will participate in good faith in the negotiation, 
Mediation and, if applicable, Arbitration processes and provide such assistance and Disclosed Information 
as may be reasonably necessary and notwithstanding that litigation may have commenced as contemplated 
in this Schedule.


8. Location - The place for Mediation and Arbitration shall be Cardston, Alberta, unless otherwise agreed 
upon by the Parties.







© Brownlee LLP 38 | P a g e
{B3396465.DOC;1}


9. Selection of Mediator and Arbitrator - If the Parties are unable to agree upon the appointment of a single 
Mediator or Arbitrator within ten (10) days after receipt of the Mediation Notice or Arbitration Notice, 
either of the Parties may request that a single Mediator or Arbitrator, as the case may be, of suitable 
training, experience and independence, and who in respect of the subject matter of the Dispute has a 
reasonable practical understanding, be appointed by the executive director or other individual fulfilling that 
role for the ADR Institute of Canada, Inc.  The executive director shall be requested to make this 
determination within five (5) days of receipt of the request.


10. Costs - Subject to Paragraph 5(d) of this Schedule in the case of an Arbitration, the Parties shall bear their 
respective costs incurred in connection with the negotiation, Mediation and, if applicable, Arbitration 
except that the Parties shall equally share the fees and expenses of the Mediator and Arbitrator and the cost 
of the facilities required for Mediation and Arbitration.


11. Disclosed Information - All Disclosed Information shall be treated as confidential and neither its delivery 
nor disclosure shall represent any waiver of privilege by a Party disclosing such Disclosed Information.  
Subject only to the rules of discovery, each Party agrees not to disclose the Disclosed Information to any 
other Person or for any other purpose.  Such Disclosed Information cannot be used in any subsequent 
proceedings without the consent of the Party who has made the disclosure.  The Parties agree that any 
Representative, Mediator and, if applicable, Arbitrator shall not be subpoenaed or otherwise compelled as a 
witness in any proceedings for the purpose of testifying with respect to the nature or substance of any 
dispute resolution process that may arise in relation to any matter that is a subject of this Agreement.  
Nothing in this dispute resolution procedure shall require a Party to disclose information that is subject to 
confidentiality provisions with third parties.


12. Litigation and Limitations Act - No Party shall commence litigation concerning the Dispute until the 
negotiation and Mediation processes have concluded.  The Parties agree that during the time any Dispute is 
subject to the negotiation and Mediation processes, the limitation periods set forth in the Limitations Act 
(Alberta) shall be stayed.  The limitation periods shall be reinstated once the Mediation terminates or is 
deemed terminated so that each of the Parties shall have the respective rights and remedies that were 
available to them before the commencement of these processes.  Any Party may commence litigation on 
any date, if necessary, to preserve its legal rights and remedies if the commencement of litigation after that 
date would otherwise be banned by any applicable limitation period or if the commencement of litigation is 
otherwise necessary to prevent irreparable harm to that Party.


13. Confidentiality - The Parties agree that there is a real risk that substantial damage to a Party’s commercial 
interests may result if Disclosed Information or Confidential Information is obtained by third parties 
because a Dispute becomes the subject matter of litigation.  The Parties agree not to contest or oppose, 
directly or indirectly, an application by a Party to the court, that the court’s file relating to such litigation, 
including this Agreement and supporting financial information, be sealed upon commencement of the 
litigation.








VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
December 12, 2019 Minutes 


 
The Regular Village of Glenwood Council meeting and Land Use Bylaw Public 
Hearing was held at the Glenwood Community Hall on December 12, 2019 
scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance:  Deputy Mayor David Rolfson, Councillors Gerald Carter, Barton 
Lybbert and Myron Lybbert were in attendance. Mayor Albert Elias absent. 
 
Officials:  CAO Marilee Campbell was in attendance. 


 
 


 


 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes December 12, 2019 Initials: Page 1 of 3 
 


 


Called to Order 
 
 
 
Prayer 
 
Agenda Adoption 
2019.12.208 
 
Minutes Adoption 
2019.12.209 
 
 
Land Use Bylaw #192-
2019 Public Hearing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Items for Discussion: 
2020 Budget Approval 
2019.12.210 


Deputy Mayor Rolfson called the December 12, 2019 Regular 
Council Meeting and Land Use Bylaw Public Hearing to order at 7:04 
PM 
 
Councillor B. Lybbert 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to adopt the agenda as presented. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 2019.11.14 
Regular Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
Oldman River Regional Services Commission (ORRSC) has prepared, 
with input from the Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw Committee, 
a proposed Land Use Bylaw #192-2019 for the Village of Glenwood, 
which was presented by Lenze Kuiper, Manager, ORRSC. 
 
Present:  


 Deputy Mayor David Rolfson 
 Councillor Gerald Carter 
 Councillor Myron Lybbert 
 Councillor Barton Lybbert 
 CAO Marilee Campbell 


 
Record of Public Submissions (both written and verbal): 


 Brenda MacMillan 
 Myrna Young 
 Wayne Smith 
 Robert Duncan 


 
Public Suggestions from the Meeting: 


 Add - an appendix of fees as reference only, actual fees are 
set in the Rates, Fees & Charges Bylaw on an annual basis. 


 Add - home occupation definitions and guidelines 
 Add issuing an occupation order once all permits have been 


approved and verified 
 Add - shrub height in the middle of the lot 
 Add - storage on empty lots – shipping container, sheds, etc. 
 Add – those residing in a trailer should have a temporary 


agreement in place until a permanent residence is built 
 
The Public Hearing portion of the Regular Village Council Meeting 
was completed at 8:20 PM. A record of written submissions will be 
published on the village website at www.glenwood.ca. 
 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to adopt the 2020-2022 three-year 
operating budget as presented. 


Carried 



http://www.glenwood.ca/





 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes December 12, 2019 Initials: Page 2 of 3 
 


2019.12.211 
 
 
Municipal 
Accountability Program  
2019.12.212 
 
 
 
2019.12.213 
 
 
 
Council & CAO Reports 
Councillor Carter 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor B. Lybbert 
 
 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
 
 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2019.12.214 
 
 
 
 
CAO Marilee Campbell 
 
 
2019.12.215 
 
 
Financial Reports 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2019.12.216 
 
 
 
Correspondence 
 
 


Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to adopt the 2020-2024 five-year 
capital budget as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor B. Lybbert MOVED to establish the Glenwood Village 
Office at 59 Main Avenue, Glenwood, AB. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to designate Alberta Treasury Branch as 
the financial institution for the Village of Glenwood. 


Carried 
 
 


 Attended AB Southwest meeting, provincial funding is being 
cut and threatens the continuation of this organization 


 A wind farm is being built north of Ewellum Colony in the MD 
of Willow Creek 


 No Chinook Foundation meeting in December 
 


 The Village Hayride is scheduled for Monday, December 16 at 
the Community Hall; a video will be shown as well 


 Requested a copy of income & expenses for the Rec Board for 
2019. 
 


 Attended Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Authority 
(CMRSWA) meeting – the requisition is going up for 2020.  


 Also attended the Chinook Arch Regional Library mtg. 
 


 Attended the Twin Rivers Country Economic Development 
Society dinner held for councillors and campground 
representatives 


 Attended the FCSS meeting, they are setting up a new region 
to facilitate better funding opportunities 


 
Councillor B. Lybbert MOVED to invite the Twin Rivers Country 
Economic Development Society to come to present a report at a 
Regular Council Meeting twice each year, rather than sending a 
village councillor to their meetings. 


Carried 
 


 CAO Report presented as outlined in the agenda 
  
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to accept the councillor and CAO 
reports as information. 


Carried 
 
 Council reviewed the Accounts Payable Cheques for 


November (20190476-20190515) 
 Council reviewed the Budget VS Actual report as of 


November 30, 2019 
 Council reviewed the bank reconciliation for November 


 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to accept the financial reports as 
information. 


Carried 
 


a) 2019 AlbertaSW Board Minutes 11-06 approved 
b) 2019 CMRSWA Org Mtg Minutes 
c) 2019.09.05 ORRSC Board Minutes 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes December 12, 2019 Initials: Page 3 of 3 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2019.12.217 
 
 
Adjournment 
2019.12.218 


d) 2019.10.10 ORRSC Executive Minutes 
e) 2019.11 CMRSWA Minutes 
f) 2019.11.01 M&R Minutes 
g) 2019.12 RMA District Update 
h) 2019.12.06 M&R Agenda 
i) 2019.12.06 M&R Update 
j) 2019-12 Bulletin AlbertaSW  
k) 2019-12 Police Costing Model - Municipal Costs by 


Municipality 
l) AUMA Highlights - December 5 2019 
m) M&R HALO Information 
n) M&R HALO Municipal ask 
o) M&R Letter approved by Minister for mass email 
p) Mayors and Reeves November 2019 


 
Mayor Elias MOVED to accept the financial reports as information. 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 9:22 PM. 


Carried 
 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Mayor 


 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Chief Administrative Officer 


  
 










